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<THE HEARING COMMENCED AT 10.13 AM  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Commissioner, we're resuming Mr Ristevski's evidence.  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. All right. We might just have the councillor re-sworn 

since he's - been a little while since you were last here. You took an oath last time, 

didn't you, last time?  

 10 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Thank you.  

 

<PETER RISTEVSKI, SWORN  15 

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. Yes, Ms Hamilton-Jewell.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Councillor Ristevski, I'm going to ask you some 

questions about the evidence that you gave on the last occasion. You were asked 20 

some questions by senior counsel assisting on 27 October - and, Commissioner, this 

is starting at transcript T-2628.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.  

 25 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: About the induction training for councillors. And 

senior counsel assisting said, at line 43, in reference to the training: 

 

"Which may have gone for about a day or two days." 

 30 

And you said yes. Do you recall that? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: If we can bring up on the screen, please, 35 

LCC.001.004.0003. Yes, please. You can see there that's a handbook, the councillor 

induction training. And if you can go down to page 2, please, you can see there's a 

schedule.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  40 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Does that assist your recollection as to whether or not 

the induction training was carried out over one day or over two days? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: One day.  45 
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MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Thank you. That can come down off the live stream. 

You were also asked some questions, on 30 October, about a work health safety 

briefing that was provided by Clayton Utz.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  5 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And at T-2934 you were asked some questions about 

whether or not you had watched the work health safety briefing on the intranet. Do 

you recall that evidence? 

 10 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you gave some evidence that you had a 

number of issues with the intranet and logging into it around that time - that is, in 

about February 2025. Do you recall that evidence? 15 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: What issues were you having with the intranet? 

 20 

MR RISTEVSKI: It wasn't picking up my password. I couldn't log in after resetting 

my password on a number of occasions.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: So you couldn't get access to the intranet; is that 

correct? 25 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Exactly.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you also gave evidence that those issues - that is, 

with logging into the intranet - have now been rectified. Do you recall that evidence? 30 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Do you recall approximately when it was that your 

intranet access issues were rectified? 35 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: September. They've issued me with a new URL.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Is it September 2025? 

 40 

MR RISTEVSKI: September this year, yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And early or late September? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I think probably early to mid.  45 
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MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you were asked by senior counsel assisting at 

line 39: 

 

"But since being rectified, you haven't watched this session?"  

 5 

And you said: 

 

"No, because I've done it myself. I've done the course.  

 

Do you recall that evidence? 10 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: What course was that? 

 15 

MR RISTEVSKI: WHS course.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And how was that organised? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Through Councillor Support.  20 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And was that an internal or external presenter? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: External.  

 25 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And do you recall approximately the date that you 

attended that course? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I think it was a Monday - 8 or 9 September.  

 30 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: You also gave some evidence, at T-3006, lines 35 to 

38, about attending a social media course.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 35 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Can you tell the Commissioner about that course? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. It was a course that was done online with three other 

councillors. Went for about two and a half hours, I think, with a moderator from 

Local Government Association. Councillor from Randwick and my fellow councillor 40 

Richard Ammoun was present. It didn't really give me an opportunity to discuss 

specifics because Councillor Ammoun was in the training session and it would have 

been a breach - of talking about my specific code of conducts to the moderator, as he 

would have been able to hear that.  

 45 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And at the end of the course, were you provided with 

anything to confirm that you had attended the course? 
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MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. The certificate.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: If we can please bring up document 

RIS.006.001.0001. Yes, please. Just go up to the top of that, please. Is that what you 5 

received? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And if you to zoom out, please, and scroll down to 10 

page 3. And is that the certificate of attendance that you received? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Confirming that you attended on 20 October? 15 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Thank you. That can come off the live stream. 

Moving to a different topic now. You also gave some evidence in relation to 20 

informal coffees and discussions that you had with Mr Breton -  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: - during the period October to June 2025. -  25 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And that was at transcript T-2649, from line - about 

20 through to 2650, line 12. And senior counsel assisting asked you how often they 30 

would occur and asked you if they were roughly once a month.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: To which you said yes. Do you recall that evidence? 35 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you said they weren't regular: 

 40 

"Whenever we had a free schedule." 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Correct.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Doing the best that you can to recall, can you tell the 45 

Commissioner how many of these informal catch-ups you recall having with 

Mr Breton? 
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MR RISTEVSKI: Five, I think. Two lunches at the 2024 calendar year and 

probably three coffee catch-ups in the early 2025 calendar year.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And other than these informal catch-ups, what other 5 

meetings have you had with Mr Breton at which social media posts were raised? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: No meeting.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you were also asked by senior counsel assisting 10 

if you could recall - I'll withdraw that. You were asked by senior counsel assisting: 

 

"During those coffees, did he raise with you that there had been code of conduct 

complaints against you?" 

 15 

And that's at transcript T-2650, lines 14 to 15. And you gave evidence that you don't 

remember him using that formal word, but he did raise - just skipping over a part of 

the transcript - "something that I posted". Do you recall giving that evidence? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  20 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Can you tell the Commissioner, in these informal 

catch-ups with Mr Breton, on how many occasions did he raise with you something 

that you had posted? 

 25 

MR RISTEVSKI: Two to three.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Now, again on the topic of social media, you gave 

some evidence to this inquiry that probably about halfway through the year you 

changed your social media style.  30 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And in response to senior counsel assisting asking if 

that was June and July, you said yes. And that's at transcript T-2640, lines 22 to 29. 35 

You also gave evidence that you changed your style when you sat down with the 

code of conduct reviewers. Do you recall that evidence? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 40 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Do you recall the dates on which you met with and 

sat down with the code of conduct reviewers to discuss the code of conduct 

complaints against you? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 15 August was the first one, and I think I had another one a 45 

short time after. So it was mid to late August.  
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MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you were also asked questions about whether 

sitting down with the code of conduct reviewer was during the investigation stage. 

And that's at transcript T-2831, line 11. In your evidence, when you're referring to a 

code of conduct reviewer, are you referring to somebody that is employed by the 

council or somebody that is external to the council? 5 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: External.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: So have you ever sat down with David Day or anyone 

employed by the council to discuss the code of conduct complaints? 10 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: No.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Now, moving to a related but slightly different topic. 

You were asked some questions about whether you had an Instagram account.  15 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Can you explain the role, if any - can you explain to 

the Commissioner the role, if any, your Macedonian social media team has in 20 

relation to your Instagram account? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Same process. Instagram and Facebook are owned by Meta, so 

whatever you post on one automatically transfers to the other.  

 25 

COMMISSIONER: Sorry, Councillor, could I just trouble you to keep your voice 

up just a little bit? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. So with Instagram, it's owned by Meta, the same company 

that owns Facebook. So whatever you post on Instagram it automatically gets posted 30 

on Facebook.  

 

COMMISSIONER: You can set it up to do that, can you? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. Yes. 35 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: You were also asked some questions about comments 

on posts and reactions, like a thumbs up, and that's at T-2993 to 2994. Can you 

explain to the Commissioner what, if any, role your Macedonian social media team 

has in relation to comments and reactions to posts? 40 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: My account is a professional account, so it gives you an 

opportunity to reply to comments that you haven't replied to, and the most efficient 

way is - you've got to make a reaction, whether it's a thumbs up or whatever. If you 

don't make a reaction, then it's very difficult to sort through the comments you 45 

haven't responded to. So once you put a reaction, it takes it off the lists that - of 

comments you haven't responded to. So then it gets narrower and narrower each time 
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you respond. So they have to make a response, otherwise it sits on that list forever 

and it'll take forever just to get through it. It's an efficient way of doing it. It's a - I 

think it's a problem with Facebook, but there's no other way to do it.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Did you say it's a professional account? 5 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. So -  

 

COMMISSIONER: What does that mean? 

 10 

MR RISTEVSKI: I've been invited by Facebook to make it a professional account, 

where it allows you to manage it better, in the sense that - where you don't have to go 

into the post and scroll down and try and find comments you haven't replied to. It 

actually gives you a dashboard.  

 15 

COMMISSIONER: A different interface from - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes, a different interface than a normal Facebook. And that 

dashboard includes the ones you haven't reacted to with thumbs up or whatnot. Even 

though you've commented on it, it will still come up unless you put a reaction. So to 20 

clear that list on a regular basis you've got to put a reaction to some extent, so that's 

a - a glitch in their system, but, you know, it's not something that I can fix.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: I'd like to move to a different topic, and I'm going to 

ask you some questions about the evidence that you gave about the council meeting 25 

that took place on 26 February 2025 -  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: - and the debate in relation to the aerotropolis 30 

conference.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: If we can please play an extract of that video. The 35 

video is LCC.003.001.0002. And the debate and the motion starts at about, 

depending on how the system is set up, either 2 hours, 40 and 55 - which is 

40 minutes and 55 into the actual broadcast. I think on your system it's at the 2 hours, 

40 minutes and 55.  

 40 

COMMISSIONER: Is it 40 minutes into the meeting?  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: It's 40 minutes into the meeting, and I understand 

that there's, sort of -  

 45 

COMMISSIONER: So I think it's the reverse.  
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RECORDING PLAYED 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Sorry, pause. It is okay to be live streamed. I'm trying 

to find the aerotropolis debate. I thought it was at 2.40.55 on the one that was in the 

system.  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: I think we'll try 40 and - 55, did you say?  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: At 2 hours and 40.55, because I'm just looking at - 

 10 

COMMISSIONER: But I think the timestamp on the one on the screen is working 

in the inverse to what you're - so from the countdown. So what - did you say 

40 minutes in?  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Yes.  15 

 

COMMISSIONER: About 40 minutes in. Let's try that.  

  

RECORDING PLAYED 

 20 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: So I think, Commissioner, that that's the start of the 

meeting of the recording. So I think, in terms of -  

 

COMMISSIONER: I see. All right. I'll stop trying to help. 

 25 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: I think in terms of getting to 40 minutes into the 

meeting the timestamp is 2.40 - in fact, if you can go to 2 hours and 42.  

 

COMMISSIONER: There's two hours of dead time on the recording.  

 30 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: I understand.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I'm sorry.  

  

RECORDING PLAYED 35 

 

COMMISSIONER: Just pause the video, please. You're happy to start from this 

point?  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Yes. Thank you.  40 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Continue playing.  

  

RECORDING PLAYED  

 45 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Thank you. You can stop that there. Now, I know that 

senior counsel assisting made a clarification on the transcript that the reference to 
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"travel together twice" wasn't said - "travel together" wasn't said twice, but there are 

some questions arising out of this. At T-2978 of the transcript senior counsel 

assisting put a question to you: 

 

"...during that discussion, you made the comment that the motion should be 5 

amended - you'd like to attend the conference, the motion be amended so that you 

and the mayor could travel together, but you will pay your own way?" 

 

And you said yes. Having now watched the video, does that affect your evidence that 

you made a comment that the motion be amended so that you and the mayor could 10 

travel together? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: So I didn't - I didn't include it - that's part of the motion, that's 

right. So I said it once - that is, general discussion, but the formal motion didn't 

include that.  15 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you were asked some questions about raising on 

two separate occasions that you and the mayor travel together, and you answered yes 

to raising on two separate occasions. Having watched the video and in light of the 

clarification from senior counsel assisting, does that affect your evidence that you 20 

said on two occasions that you and the mayor could travel together? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. I said it once.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Thank you. That video can come down. 25 

 

COMMISSIONER: Are you moving on from the meeting?  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: I'm moving on from the meeting, yes. 

 30 

COMMISSIONER: You moved an amendment to the motion that was before the 

council.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 35 

COMMISSIONER: What prompted you to seek to amend the motion, as opposed 

to just going on your own and paying your own way, as you had proposed? What 

made you think that - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I just think - 40 

 

COMMISSIONER: - that needed an amendment? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: It - well, as - I am a councillor, so I'm not a member of the 

general public, and I just thought it was the right way to do it. I'm attending, I'm not 45 

presenting. 
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COMMISSIONER: Attending as a councillor -  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

COMMISSIONER: - is that your point? 5 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Attending as a councillor. No harm in letting them know that 

Councillor Ristevski will be there. It's just a more formal process. Maybe there's 

WHS issues if something happens to you while you're travelling. I don't know. But I 

know that's the proper process to do it. 10 

 

COMMISSIONER: It was because you were going in your capacity as a 

councillor - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Correct. 15 

 

COMMISSIONER: - have I understood you correctly? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 20 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, Ms Hamilton-Jewell.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Moving to a different topic. You were asked some 

questions by senior counsel assisting about an advice that had been provided to 

council by senior counsel about work health and safety issues.  25 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you were asked about - there was a reference in 

the evidence to an email that Mayor Mannoun had sent? 30 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you were asked some questions about that, 

although you weren't a recipient of that email.  35 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Correct.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And in that email, it referred to "yesterday's 

governance meeting" and the email was sent on 26 February 2025.  40 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Do you recall attending a governance meeting 

in February 2025? 45 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I didn't attend.  
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MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And is it the usual practice that the minutes of 

governance meetings are reported up to council? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Correct.  5 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And they're included in the agenda? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 10 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: If we could pull up, please, RIS.001.001.0002. While 

that's coming up, if an item is tabled at a governance meeting, will it be included in 

the minutes that are reported to council in the council agenda? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: It must.  15 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Yes, please. You can see there's a council agenda for 

the ordinary council meeting on 26 March 2025? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  20 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And if we can go down to page 216, please. You can 

see here this is the minutes of the governance meeting held on 25 February 2025? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  25 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And executive summary recommendation. If you can 

please scroll down. And to the next page. And over again, please. And again, please. 

And you can see there attachments, minutes of the 25 February 2025 governance 

committee meeting? 30 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: If you can go down to page 219, please, which is on 

the next page. Those are the minutes of the governance meeting scheduled for 35 

18 February, postponed and held on 25 February. See that? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And then the list of attendees is there, those present? 40 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And over the page, at page 220, you can see you are 

recorded as an apology? 45 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Correct.  
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MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And, Commissioner, I don't think it's necessary to do 

it through this witness, but if you like, scrolling through, there isn't an attached senior 

counsel advice that's been provided on those. 

 5 

COMMISSIONER: We won't do that. I don't think it's necessary to put it to the 

witness. It's a submission on the document. Thank you.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Thank you, Commissioner. Those are my questions. 

 10 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. Anything arising? 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. On the last occasion, Mr - I'm sorry, I'll start again. You've 

given evidence today about some training that you've received so far. I think you said 

there was some training on social media and also work health and safety.  15 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: You gave evidence previously of a planned meeting with 

Mr Breton where you were going to discuss further training that you wished to 20 

receive. Has that meeting taken place? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: No. 

 

MS McDONALD: Is it scheduled yet? 25 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: It was supposed to take place on Friday, but we got an invitation 

the night before to a visiting Italian delegation from overseas which fell on the same 

time. So I don't know how they scheduled it at the same time, and I said, "Well, 

guys, I can't be to both. We need to reschedule this," so I've sent them a date for the 30 

28th. They can't make it, and I've sent them another date and I'm just waiting for a 

response on that. 

 

MS McDONALD: And what's the other date that you've proposed? 

 35 

MR RISTEVSKI: I think the - the 28th is a Friday, so the Monday is, I think, 

1 December. 

 

COMMISSIONER: What was the delegation visiting for? Not much turns on that, 

it's just curiosity this morning.  40 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: We have a sister city with Calabria and they were coming over, 

and we just got notified the night before, which is unusual, but- 

 

COMMISSIONER: These things happen -  45 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes, they happen. 



 

 

 

 

LCC Inquiry – 17.11.2025 P-3243  Transcript by Law In Order 

 

 

 

COMMISSIONER: - when people are travelling.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. And then we - I had to - I just said, "Look, I can't be to 

both," because Tina Bono, who was supposed to be on that meeting, she was also 5 

present at that delegation, so we had to reschedule. 

 

COMMISSIONER: All the councillors - or all those who were - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: No.  10 

 

COMMISSIONER: - available attended? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Funnily enough, it was just me and the mayor. 

 15 

COMMISSIONER: Well, there you go. 

 

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute. You spoke about problems with the 

intranet. The intranet that you're talking about, that's the council intranet? 

 20 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And as a councillor, through that intranet you're given access to, 

I take it, certain documents relevant to your role as a councillor? 

  25 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And your problem with the password, that that didn't log you in, 

was that problem in existence from the time of your re-election, say October '24, 

to September '25? 30 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I couldn't tell you, to be honest with you. 

 

MS McDONALD: Well, for that period - 

 35 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: - is it your evidence that you couldn't access the intranet? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. In - I don't know the exact dates, but it would have been in 40 

that period, yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: But for that period? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: The intranet's - we normally get emails, so everything that I liaise 45 

with council is always via email. 
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MS McDONALD: I'm not asking you that, Mr Ristevski, I'm - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. The intranet. 

 

MS McDONALD: - asking you about your access as a councillor to councillor 5 

intranet? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Is it your evidence that from the time of your re-election 10 

until September of this year - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: - you could not access your councillor intranet? 15 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I'd have to say yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: When did you first become aware of that? 

 20 

MR RISTEVSKI: Would have been probably - I don't know the exact date, but in 

the - of this year, it would have been in the first half of this calendar year. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Who did you raise it with? 

 25 

MR RISTEVSKI: IT support. 

 

MS McDONALD: And when you say the first half of this year, January, February? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Probably - not January, because pretty much everything's closed. 30 

February/March. 

 

MS McDONALD: And when did you notify IT support? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I can't remember the exact dates, but it was on a - a rolling 35 

regular occasion where I had to bring in my iPad. And it couldn't be done on the 

phone. So I know I've had probably three meetings with them. 

 

MS McDONALD: And when were they? 

 40 

MR RISTEVSKI: Probably April, and then another one in June, another one 

in September, and another one somewhere in between that. 

 

MS McDONALD: And so for the whole of that time you couldn't access your 

councillor intranet? 45 
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MR RISTEVSKI: Correct. Because I - I - I'm a regular user on the phone rather 

than iPad and - 

 

MS McDONALD: I'm not interested in that. I'm just trying to work out when you're 

saying that you could not access your councillor intranet.  5 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: That's from - 

 

MS McDONALD: So your evidence is, even though you were contacting IT 

support, you still could not access it until September of this year? 10 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: You - 

  15 

COMMISSIONER: What hardware are you - you provided - did you say an iPad? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Was that a council iPad that - 20 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Council iPad.  

 

COMMISSIONER: What else did you get?  

  25 

MR RISTEVSKI: Council laptop. 

 

COMMISSIONER: You got a laptop? 

  

MR RISTEVSKI: Had some issues with the laptop. I've had - I've brang that in a 30 

few times. I've got to bring it in again. Haven't been able to use that. The iPad I can 

use. I'm more - I'm a regular user on the phone, I don't really carry the iPad around a 

lot. But I don't think you can access the intranet via the phone, so that's why - 

 

COMMISSIONER: When you say the phone, you're accessing material on the 35 

phone -  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. Yes. 

 

COMMISSIONER: - as opposed to just making calls and -  40 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. Correct. On my Apple iPhone.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Is that yours or is that a council supplied - 

 45 

MR RISTEVSKI: No, that's mine. Yes. Maybe that's where the issue is. But on the 

iPad I can access the intranet, but I don't carry it around all the time because it's 
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bulky and - running a business, it's - everything's done on the phone. But the issue I 

think is the fact that it's not a council-issued phone, it's my phone, it won't allow me 

to log into the intranet.  

 

COMMISSIONER: So the problems with accessing the intranet, were they on your 5 

phone or on the devices - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: On my phone. 

 

COMMISSIONER: - supplied by council? 10 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: On my phone. And then they suggested I bring my iPad in, which 

I did, and we got it working.  

 

COMMISSIONER: So had you tried - before you took the iPad in, had you tried to 15 

access the intranet on the iPad and had difficulty? Or - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: - was it only through phone? 20 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: It had difficulty because I kept on resetting the password on my 

iPhone, and somehow - it's just probably locked me out. Actually, that's what 

happened. It locked me out of the system. I had to physically bring it in to get me 

unlocked. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, you gave evidence about reacting to comments. Is it your 

evidence that you've instructed your team from Macedonia that - where there is a 

comment, to immediately react to it? 

 30 

MR RISTEVSKI: Not immediately. It's - when you react to the comment, you've 

got to put a reaction to take it off the dashboard, so then you're only dealing with 

comments you haven't dealt with, because we might - 

 

MS McDONALD: I'm not asking you that. I'm asking what you've instructed your 35 

team in Macedonia to do. So have you instructed your team at Macedonia 

that - where there is a comment, that they should react to it?  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: No. They've instructed to me that that's what they have to do to 

clear the comments. I'm no good at this IT stuff. 40 

 

MS McDONALD: No, no, I'm not asking you that. So who reacts to a comment to a 

posting you've made on your Facebook page? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Well, it's a combination of them and I. 45 
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MS McDONALD: All right. When it is the team from Macedonia, is your evidence 

that they just post a reaction, which is a thumbs up or something along those lines? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: If they comment, they have to also make a reaction to take it off 

the log. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: No, I'm not asking you that. What are they told to do? What are 

they being told to do? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I'm not an IT expert, I don't tell them. They tell me the best way 10 

to clear the log and I follow experts' opinion. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Well, the experts, what have the experts told you? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: If we want to clear the log on a regular basis you must have a 15 

reaction, otherwise it's very inefficient. It's a problem with Facebook, we can't fix it. 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. Who's putting - giving the reaction? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Combination, me and them. 20 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. When it is them - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: - the team from Macedonia, who determines how they react? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Well, I've told them if you have to give a reaction and it's 

something that's controversial, don't put a thumbs up, put a - like, an "Oh". Like, a 

mouth open - like, a - shock. I don't know what that means, but I'm not an expert on 30 

these bloody reactions. And there's an angry one, there's a - one with a hug. God, 

ridiculous. 

 

MS McDONALD: So the - at least with some of the comments to your postings on 

Facebook are determined by the Macedonian team and not by you? 35 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: We get a lot. Yes, of course. They help me. 

 

MS McDONALD: And your only guidance to them is if they assess it to be 

controversial in some way, not to put a thumbs up but maybe put something 40 

alternative, like a mouth open?  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now - and your evidence is, the benefit of that is it's - as you've 45 

described, it clears some of the log? 
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MR RISTEVSKI: Correct. When you get a - 

 

MS McDONALD: Now - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Sorry. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: - does that mean - do you at any time go back and assess what 

reaction they have placed on your Facebook page? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: No way. I don't have the hours in the day to do that. 10 

 

MS McDONALD: So potentially there could be a controversial comment, they 

determine what the reaction is and you don't vet it or check it? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Not for $35,000 a year. 15 

 

MS McDONALD: It could be a reaction in such a way that you appear to be 

approving or condoning a comment which would be in breach of the code of 

conduct. That possibility exists, doesn't it? 

 20 

MR RISTEVSKI: I don't remember receiving a code of conduct about a reaction. 

 

MS McDONALD: I'm not talking - I'm not asking you that. If you'd listen to my 

question again, Mr Ristevski. I'm saying, with the lack of any vetting or control by 

you of the reactions to comments to your postings, it could appear that you are 25 

approving or condoning a comment which is in breach of the code of - is a sentiment 

which would be in breach of the code of conduct.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Well, I object to that, Commissioner. There's a 

conclusion that there's been a breach of the code of conduct that (indistinct) proceeds 30 

on a premise that the reaction can be seen as condoning a comment, and a 

combination of the two is a breach of the code of conduct.  

 

MS McDONALD: I'll withdraw the question. You put a post on and there's a 

comment.  35 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: That comment could bring the council or council officials into 

disrepute, potentially? 40 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: That's a - potentially, but I - 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 

 45 

MR RISTEVSKI: - haven't done anything wrong. 
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MS McDONALD: No, I'm not asking you that, Mr Ristevski.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I need to be careful with my testimony. 

  

MS McDONALD: Listen to my question.  5 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I am, but I need to be careful - 

 

MS McDONALD: I am -  

 10 

MR RISTEVSKI: - with my testimony. 

 

MS McDONALD: - asking you- 

 

COMMISSIONER: Please just wait for the question.  15 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I know, but she's being very aggressive when I'm trying to - it's a 

public inquiry. It's - I'm not on trial here. It's inquisitory. 

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Ristevski, I'm asking you questions -  20 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: And I'm trying to answer it. 

 

MS McDONALD: - please answer my question. 

 25 

COMMISSIONER: Could we just both pause. It doesn't assist me when you're -  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I understand. 

 

COMMISSIONER: - arguing with each other.  30 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: She's being - 

 

COMMISSIONER: So just listen -  

 35 

MR RISTEVSKI: - very aggressive. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Councillor, as I - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I understand.  40 

 

COMMISSIONER: - said to you on the last occasion, listen very carefully to the 

question.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I will. 45 

 

COMMISSIONER: If there's anything that's unfair to you, I'm listening carefully - 
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MR RISTEVSKI: Thank you.  

 

COMMISSIONER: - your counsel is listening carefully, and appropriate 

objections - 5 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I appreciate- 

 

COMMISSIONER: - can be made. So - 

 10 

MR RISTEVSKI: Thank you.  

 

COMMISSIONER: - we'll just take it one step at a time.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Thank you. 15 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, Ms McDonald. 

  

MS McDONALD: Now, Mr Ristevski, you make a posting and there is a comment?  

 20 

MR RISTEVSKI: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: That comment potentially could - could bring the council or a 

council official into disrepute? 

 25 

MR RISTEVSKI: Potentially, yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Potentially it could cause, comprise or involve intimidation or 

verbal abuse? 

 30 

MR RISTEVSKI: Potentially. 

 

MS McDONALD: Potentially it could constitute harassment or bullying behaviour 

or be unlawfully discriminatory? 

 35 

MR RISTEVSKI: Potentially. 

 

MS McDONALD: By delegating the reaction to the Macedonia team and not 

controlling or vetting their reaction, potentially their reaction - thumbs up, for 

example - could be seen to be an approval of the comment? 40 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Potentially. Hasn't happened. 

 

MS McDONALD: And that approval would be an approval - potentially, as I 

said - of a comment that was likely to bring the council or other council officials into 45 

disrepute? 
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MR RISTEVSKI: Yes, but I want to add something. 

 

MS McDONALD: Potentially it could be an approval of a comment which causes, 

comprises or involves intimidation or verbal abuse? 

 5 

MR RISTEVSKI: I would like to add something. 

 

MS McDONALD: Do you agree with - I'll let you say something - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Thank you. 10 

 

MS McDONALD: - at - a minute.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Thank you.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: You're answering my questions at the moment.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: As long as I can have a say too.  

 

MS McDONALD: So, Mr Ristevski -  20 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: - in answer to my question - 

 25 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: - it would be an approval of a comment which potentially causes, 

comprises or involves intimidation or verbal abuse? 

 30 

MR RISTEVSKI: Potentially. Had hasn't happened yet. 

 

MS McDONALD: And it is an approval of a comment which potentially constitutes 

harassment or bullying behaviour under the - or unlawful - is unlawfully 

discriminatory? 35 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Potentially. Hasn't happened yet. I'd like to add something. 

 

MS McDONALD: How do you know why - how it doesn't happen? You don't vet or 

check.  40 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Well, I haven't had a code of conduct about it, I can tell you that. 

There is - there's my answer. And that's what I'm trying to say. It's not about yes and 

no answers. This is not about the barristers. This is about us giving you guys and the 

Commissioner some invaluable information. And I want to add something.  45 
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We get paid $35,000 year. I need to do the budget, which a Member of Parliament 

doesn't need to do. I need to deal with constituent issues. I've got to read a volume of 

product - this much - and now I've got to go through a thumbs up, thumbs down. 

This council is not dysfunctional because of my social media. Actually, it's better 

because I keep them accountable. And I can tell you that when I ask a question 5 

everyone is on their feet. I'll give you a good example, Commissioner, and I want 

you to listen to this. 

 

There's a conference coming up next week for the New South Wales Local 

Government conference, where all councillors attend - every single council in New 10 

South Wales. We put up our motions - and this has happened not on once - occasion 

but two occasions - it happened in the Canberra one in June - we put a bunch of 

motions that are important for Liverpool and someone within council forgot to 

submit them on two occasions. Why am I going to this conference? I'm not there to 

have coffee with the councillors. And it costs four or five thousand dollars per 15 

councillor. So these are the kind of dysfunctional things that are happening. Yes, it's 

easy to blame councillors, but there's a lot of - how do I say it - a lot of deadwood 

that work for council. 

 

Now, if we're not there - I had a constituent meeting on the weekend and I said, 20 

"Look, I don't know how long we're going to be around," and they were virtually in 

tears, "Peter, who are we going to call?" If we leave council to these guys that work 

in there without oversight from councillors, Liverpool's finished, I'm telling you.  

 

Last time we had an administrator appointed it was terrible for the area, and 25 

I'm - sack or no sack - I mean, it's not my decision, but I'm letting you know that my 

finger's on the pulse and this is - these guys can't be trusted on their own. I keep them 

accountable a lot of the time. And that silly mistake that happened - I've lodged a 

code of conduct now against that person for wasting ratepayers' resources. It's 

probably added up to 50 grand. A simple task of submitting listed motions for 30 

Liverpool Council to be debated by all the other councillors and they couldn't do 

that. 

 

Now, I'm on 35 grand a year, they're on six figures and they can't even do a basic 

thing, and these are the kind of people we have in there. It's not easy, you know, and 35 

that's what I'm trying to say. Now I've got to analyse thumbs up, thumbs down, do 

the budget. We're not being realistic here. We're putting so much burden on 

councillors that - state Members of Parliament don't have the same burden and 

they're on five times the wage. You know, we - if we want proper accountability, 

make it a full-time job. That's my feedback. 40 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, you gave evidence that you sat down with the code of 

conduct reviewers on 15 August? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 45 

 

COMMISSIONER: I'm sorry to interrupt. Was that the - what you wanted to say? 
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MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Is there anything else you want to add to that - 

 5 

MR RISTEVSKI: It's not a - 

 

COMMISSIONER: Just let me finish.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Sorry. 10 

 

COMMISSIONER: There were a couple of times in answer to senior counsel 

assisting's questions you said you wanted to add something. Have you just told me 

what you wanted to add? 

 15 

MR RISTEVSKI: Because we're juggling a full-time job as well. There's not 

enough hours in the day. We've got families. We've got to see our families. We've 

got to have some downtime as well. The questions have been unreasonable tasks of a 

councillor. Like- 

 20 

COMMISSIONER: Is it unreasonable for a councillor to comply with the code of 

conduct? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: It's not unreasonable, but I've instructed - I've got professionals 

that work for me. They understand that - they've been instructed that, "Here's our 25 

code of conduct. You've got to react" - and the only neutral reaction is the mouth 

open. There is no other reaction, otherwise it will stay on the list. Now, mouth open 

is neutral reaction in my mind and you're not agreeing with it. You're probably more 

disagreeing with it than anything else. A shock at what they just said. 

 30 

MS McDONALD: So you've provided the Macedonian team with a copy of the 

code of conduct? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. That's what my - 

 35 

MS McDONALD: And what have you instructed or informed them about the code 

of conduct? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Try and comply with it. It's not easy to read or understand. I 

struggle with it too, because it doesn't talk about social - 40 

 

MS McDONALD: So try to comply with it? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. I don't understand it myself because it doesn't talk about 

social media. 45 
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MS McDONALD: Your evidence from the last occasion was that with the 

Macedonian team - that they were either posting or putting up stories, and in respect 

of at least some those you did not vet them beforehand.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Correct. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: Your evidence on the postings is that you now vet? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Correct. 

 10 

MS McDONALD: Is it your evidence now on the stories you now vet? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And is it your evidence that on reactions to comments you don't 15 

vet? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Exactly. Not enough hours in the day.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. 20 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: We get a thousand comments a day. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, this change with the postings and the stories - can you just 

remind me, when did your instructions to the Macedonian team change? 25 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Since my meeting with the code of conduct reviewers one on 

one, which happened in August. 

 

MS McDONALD: But you were informed or notified of code of conduct complaints 30 

before that, weren't you? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes, but code of conducts are very difficult to understand. 

 

MS McDONALD: No, no, no. Just answer my question. Were you informed of -  35 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: - the code of conduct complaints beforehand? 

 40 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: But you didn't take any action in respect of the Macedonian team 

until this discussion in August with the code of conduct reviewers? 

 45 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 
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MS McDONALD: The procedure with the code of conduct complaints, they were at 

a preliminary assessment, then many of them were escalated to an investigation. You 

know that difference? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I've only dealt with an external party. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. While they're investigating a code of conduct 

complaint? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 10 

 

MS McDONALD: When you were - and your involvement there, was that, as 

you've said, having - speaking to the code of conduct reviewers? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Can you re-ask that question again? 15 

 

MS McDONALD: There's an investigation being conducted by code of conduct 

reviewers.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 20 

 

MS McDONALD: You have given evidence that at least in August - and I think it 

was on three occasions - you've had some kind of interviews with - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: Or discussions with them.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Correct. 

 30 

MS McDONALD: In addition to those interviews or discussions, have you 

submitted any written submission or documentation to any of the code of conduct 

reviewers? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 35 

 

MS McDONALD: In any of your discussions with the code of conduct reviewers, 

did you raise with them the Macedonia team? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. And they've been in contact with them. 40 

 

MS McDONALD: When did you raise that? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Whenever I've had meetings with them. I've given them a copy 

of my contract with them. They've actually bean liaising with them. They've offered 45 

suggestions, which I've incorporated. They were working quite well. 
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MS McDONALD: And that material was only given to the reviewers orally? Or was 

it also in some of the written material you've referred to? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Contracts are written, and then they've liaised with them as well 

overseas. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: So your evidence is that you've raised it when you've spoken 

orally to the code of conduct reviewers, and you've provided at least a copy of the 

contract with the Macedonian team? 

 10 

MR RISTEVSKI: Correct. And their contact details, and then they've liaised with 

them. 

 

MS McDONALD: Which investigators did you raise it with? 

 15 

MR RISTEVSKI: Every single one. I think I've had three. OCM, Centium and there 

was another one - can't remember. 

 

MS McDONALD: A different one to OCM and Centium? 

 20 

MR RISTEVSKI: I can't recall. Could have been the same one, it could have been a 

different one. I just don't remember. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. You were asked some questions about your meetings 

with Mr Breton. You said there were about five? 25 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: You referred to two lunch meetings which you thought occurred 

in 2024 -  30 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: - and three coffee meetings which occurred in early 2025.  

 35 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: When you say "early 2025", are we talking January/February? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 40 

 

MS McDONALD: And then after February, have there been no more of these 

informal meetings, at least off-site, with Mr Breton? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I think I had one in March. 45 

 

MS McDONALD: Was that a coffee or a - 
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MR RISTEVSKI: Yes, coffee. 

 

MS McDONALD: But since the coffee in March there's been no more? 

 5 

MR RISTEVSKI: No. 

 

MS McDONALD: When you received or were notified of the code of conduct 

complaints - and you were informed - my recollection was either - I thought it was 

in April, where you raised a conflict of interest matter.  10 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: You didn't - did you approach Mr Breton to discuss what's going 

on, what are these -  15 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Sorry, I know the question's not finished, but I do 

object to this question. It was asked on the last occasion. We went through the 

process of the code of conduct complaints procedure and the confidentiality that 

attaches to it. 20 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Breton to discuss what's going on, what are these -  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And the question was (indistinct). 

 25 

MS McDONALD: I'll rephrase the question. The code of conduct complaints that 

you were notified, met about, and you raised a conflict of interest, many of them 

raised your social media posts, didn't they? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 30 

 

MS McDONALD: Did you approach Mr Breton and raise with him, "Is there a 

problem with my social media posts? Can you maybe provide me with some 

assistance about how I'm supposed to be complying with council meeting or council 

policies about social media?"  35 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: No, because I got an email from David Day - or someone within 

the legal team and I was liaising with them. I had never got a code of conduct so I 

didn't know how to navigate through it. There's no - there's really no help there, 

you're on your own. So I would have loved to have done what you just said, 40 

but - from hindsight I should have, but no one's told you about the process. 

 

MS McDONALD: I'm not - my question did not suggest contacting Mr Breton 

about code of conduct, but you knew that there was an issue arising because of your 

social media postings. My suggestion - or the question was, independently of code of 45 

conduct, did you contact Mr Breton about any issue with your social media posts? 
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MR RISTEVSKI: No, because you - says you've got to keep it confidential. 

 

COMMISSIONER: I think the question might be slightly different, Councillor.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Sorry. 5 

 

COMMISSIONER: I think what's being suggested to you is - what's the time 

period, Ms McDonald? 

 

MS McDONALD: Can you excuse me. 10 

 

COMMISSIONER: In early this year - 

 

MS McDONALD: I think - sorry, if I can interrupt? 

 15 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: I think it's from March or April.  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. So at about that time, as I've understood your 20 

evidence so far - and do correct me if I'm wrong - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: - because now's the time. 25 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: You became aware that there was some issue being raised 

about your social media activity; is that right? 30 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. Yes. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Even if you didn't at that stage know that it had become a code 

of conduct matter. 35 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

COMMISSIONER: But you were aware that there was some issue or - 

 40 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: - concern about your social media activity. Have I understood 

you correctly? 

 45 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 
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COMMISSIONER: And I think what's being explored with you is whether, having 

become aware of that in about March/April of this year, you went to - I'll deal firstly 

with Mr Breton - and asked him, "Well, what's the issue?", or sought some guidance 

or assistance from him to manage that concern. Is that something you did? 

 5 

MR RISTEVSKI: I did - I - wouldn't have been at that time. I did send him an email 

with a course I wanted to do on social media, and I pretty much had to push that, 

"Can I get enrolled in this?" "Can I get enrolled in this?" And - 

 

COMMISSIONER: Now, you told me about that before.  10 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Just remind me of the date, doing the best you can? 

 15 

MR RISTEVSKI: It was a social media course, the one that I eventually did. 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. So that's sometime later? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes, sometime later. I just didn't know the process. I should 20 

have. And in hindsight I think that would have been great, but just didn't know the 

process. I didn't know how to navigate through it. 

 

COMMISSIONER: When you say "in hindsight", do you mean that you should 

have asked for that assistance earlier? Is that what you mean? 25 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. Yes, definitely.  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. 

 30 

MR RISTEVSKI: Because in that - that training I've had on day 1, they never 

talked about if you get a code of conduct this is what you should do, and if you're 

unsure - 

 

COMMISSIONER: Separating the code of conduct - just -  35 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Okay. 

 

COMMISSIONER: I'm just at the stage -  

 40 

MR RISTEVSKI: No, I didn't do that. No.  

 

COMMISSIONER: - where you were aware that there - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 45 

 

COMMISSIONER: - was a concern.  
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MR RISTEVSKI: I should have done that. I really should have, and I think that 

would have been beneficial. But he has been good in the - in the sense that he has 

a - he has emailed me a few times and said, "Look, Pete, let's have a chat about this." 

And then I - and I said, "All right. I'll take it down." So he has been good in that 5 

respect and we have that relationship via email, which is probably better anyway 

because there's a paper trail, and he has done that on probably three occasions, and 

we've nipped it in the bud straight away. 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Leaving Mr Breton to one side now, did you seek 10 

assistance or advice from anyone else at council on becoming - within the council, 

not your fellow councillors, staff, I mean - on becoming aware in about March 

or April this year there were concerns about your social media activity? Is that 

something you did? 

 15 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes, I liaised with David Galpin, I think it was. "David, how do I 

navigate through this?" And he really didn't offer much. He could have - if he said to 

me, "Look, why don't you do some training or go talk to the CEO," I would have 

done that. But even on his end it was like, "You're on your own. Get a lawyer. We 

don't pay for it.". 20 

 

COMMISSIONER: Well, that's once it's at code of conduct stage. Is that what 

you're talking about. 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: That's back in April, when I first got notified. Said- 25 

 

COMMISSIONER: Notified of what?  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: - "David, how do I navigate through this?" 

 30 

COMMISSIONER: Notified of the concern or notified of a code of conduct issue? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Notified of the code of conduct. 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Just - as I understand the timeline, there was a time 35 

where you became aware about a concern of your social media activity, and then 

sometime after that you became aware it had become a code of conduct issue; is that 

right? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  40 

 

COMMISSIONER: So in the period after you became aware of a concern with your 

social media activity but before you became aware of the code of conduct - so you 

don't know that there's a code of conduct issue yet -  

 45 

MR RISTEVSKI: I understand.  
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COMMISSIONER: - did you seek any assistance from staff within council to get 

some advice about, "Well, what's the concern? How do I manage it?" Did you seek 

any advice at that stage? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: No. And I think it should have been - that question should go to 5 

the CEO. If he said to me, "Look, why don't you do a course," or whatever, I would 

have done whatever he recommended. I'm a novice to this. I don't know - I don't 

know how to navigate through it. I was very - you know, I've got other things on my 

mind - I've got my work and I've got my family. I'm sometimes guided by him. 

That's his full-time role; he's the CEO. If he said, "Look, Pete, let's do some 10 

training," or, "I suggest you do this," I would have said yes. I've said yes to 

everything that he's suggested. But it would have - it's probably better if he suggested 

it than me. I - like, I - judging by today, I'm supposed to know everything.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Well, maybe not know everything, but do you think councillors 15 

have a function in informing themselves about their role and how they should 

conduct themselves in performing their function? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Look, there's been a bit of a time bomb and - and I've navigated 

through it now and I've done the training, and liaising well with the CEO and 20 

talking - made some adjustments. You know, things are a lot - it's like a 180-degree 

turn since back then. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Why do you say that? 

 25 

MR RISTEVSKI: I don't think I've had a code of conduct for a while, so - and - 

 

COMMISSIONER: And you also told me you've changed how you go about - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. Changed -  30 

 

COMMISSIONER: - your social media activity.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Correct. Yes. Changed my activity. Put some revisions in there 

and studied case law about other councillors and code of conducts. Studied the model 35 

code of conduct.  

 

COMMISSIONER: So you've been a bit more - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Proactive. Yes. 40 

 

COMMISSIONER: - proactive in yourself? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. Correct. Yes. I'm more aware. You know, I can't be perfect, 

but it's a massive turnaround.  45 
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COMMISSIONER: So since that - about when - that was from about mid this year 

onwards? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Probably from August, like I said before, when I sat down with 

three of the code of conducts and they actually - where I can actually talk to them 5 

openly and about specific code of conducts, "What should I do? What do you 

suggest?" Then they spoke to my team and - overseas, and so we're - you know, it's 

been a - an audit. It's not always a bad thing. I mean, code of conduct sounds terrible, 

but for me I take it as a positive thing. It's an audit via an external party that I can 

learn from. You can't get better learning than that, where they specifically take a 10 

real-life example of what you've done and manage you - "This is how you should do 

it." So I've actually embraced it - embraced the whole experience. 

 

MS McDONALD: I just missed some of your answer then. Did you say that the 

investigators - so the conduct - code of conduct reviewers have spoken to some 15 

members of your Macedonian team? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Do you remember which investigators? 20 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Maybe Centium. 

 

MR PARISH: Can I just rise to make sure that we're not traversing into any 

substantive matters of investigation that are current. 25 

 

COMMISSIONER: Don't think we are just yet. It's a matter of process so far, but - 

 

MR PARISH: Okay. 

 30 

COMMISSIONER: - we'll see where we go next. 

 

MR PARISH: Thank you. 

 

MS McDONALD: You think it was the - Centium? 35 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes, I think so. 

 

MS McDONALD: And did you suggest that they ring? 

 40 

MR RISTEVSKI: No, they suggested it, and I gave - 

 

MS McDONALD: So they said something along the lines of, "We want to speak to 

the Macedonian team."  

 45 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. Yes. Yes. 
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MS McDONALD: And you provided the contact details? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. Correct. Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And you weren't party to whatever conversation occurred? 5 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: No. 

 

MS McDONALD: Did the Macedonian team confirm that somebody from - if it was 

Centium - had contacted them? 10 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I told them in advance, and - which is - 

 

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry? 

 15 

MR RISTEVSKI: I told them in advance, because that's what they said - 

 

MS McDONALD: No, my question is the end result.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: Did anybody from your Macedonian team say to you, "I received 

a call from these investigators"? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: And what's that - the person from the Macedonian team, what's 

their name? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Ilo. 30 

 

MS McDONALD: What, sorry? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: It's a Macedonian name. 

 35 

MS McDONALD: Could you spell it, please?  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: (Indistinct) I-l-o.  

 

MS McDONALD: You were asked some questions about the induction that you 40 

undertook as a councillor, and I think the induction timetable that we had shown you 

previously was brought up.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 45 

MS McDONALD: And you will recall that in the afternoon there was - I think the 

afternoon was on code of conduct and it - 
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MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: At least on code of conduct. To your - and were there - the usual 

way training is undertaken, was there, like, PowerPoint and things like that? 5 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And could you just confirm your evidence. Was social media 

and code of conduct ever raised during the training? 10 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And what was raised? 

 15 

MR RISTEVSKI: I can't really remember, but it didn't go into great detail. 

 

MS McDONALD: Could we bring up, please, LCC.040.001.0247. 

 

COMMISSIONER: We'll just have it in the room first.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: If we could just bring it up in the room to begin with. And if we 

look at the- 

 

COMMISSIONER: Okay. Have I made an order about this? 25 

 

MS McDONALD: Could you just excuse me. 

 

MR PARISH: Probably not. It was only- 

 30 

COMMISSIONER: This one is last week. 

 

MR PARISH: It's only last week, and we saw it about an hour ago.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 35 

 

MR PARISH: So it's 500 pages long. 

 

COMMISSIONER: No, no, I'm not being critical. I was just curious as to whether 

I've done something in chambers that I don't remember doing. 40 

 

MR PARISH: I don't think you have. 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Which page or pages is it? 

 45 

MS McDONALD: It's 304. 
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COMMISSIONER: All right. We'll just give Mr Parish a minute to - so is it - 

 

MS McDONALD: Could you just excuse me for a minute. Maybe, just on the live 

stream, if we can go through to page 304 first. This is a slide that was shown during 

the induction that you attended in October.  5 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Mmm. 

 

MS McDONALD: And you can see there: 

 10 

"A word about social media." 

 

And it talks about, at least under the first dot point: 

 

"Councillors must not make personal attacks on council staff or engage in conduct 15 

towards staff that would be contrary to the general conduct provisions in part 3 of the 

code of conduct." 

 

Then the next one is talking about council letterhead. Council - I think it's crests, 

email, et cetera. And then the final dot point is: 20 

 

"You must comply with council's adopted social media policies." 

 

Does that remind you that during the induction there was a reference to social media? 

 25 

MR RISTEVSKI: Was that the only reference? 

 

MS McDONALD: This is the particular screen that I'm showing you at the moment, 

but does that - my question is does that prompt your memory that social media and 

code of conduct was raised during that induction? 30 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Probably have to see some more. 

 

MS McDONALD: There is more detail about code of conduct but that's the only 

page of the slides that raises social media. So I'll repeat - 35 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: That's what I'm trying to say.  

 

MS McDONALD: - my question to you.  

 40 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Looking at that, does that remind you that there was social 

media - social media and its interaction with the code of conduct was raised during 

the induction? 45 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I don't recall it because this is only a three-line - 
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MS McDONALD: No, no, no. My question is - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: No, I don't recall it. 

 5 

COMMISSIONER: You're not being asked to remember this particular slide.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: No. No, I don't recall social media- 

 

COMMISSIONER: It's whether the topic -  10 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: - was addressed. 

 15 

MR RISTEVSKI: I don't remember the topic being addressed. It probably was, but 

I can't recall it. 

 

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute. 

 20 

COMMISSIONER: I suppose this is probably just my idle curiosity - again, 

nothing really turns on it, but there's a watermark. Does that have any 

significance? 

 

MS McDONALD: It has significance as to where this was obtained from. 25 

 

COMMISSIONER: I see. 

 

MS McDONALD: And if you look at attachment 1- 

 30 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: - and the heading up there- 

 

COMMISSIONER: I see. 35 

 

MS McDONALD: That's why - 

 

COMMISSIONER: Okay.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: - we are only showing this particular page.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: We're not showing any of the other pages. 45 

 

COMMISSIONER: I understand. Thank you. 
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MS McDONALD: No further questions. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.  

 5 

MS RICHARDSON: I just - I have a couple of questions that arise based on the 

evidence - new evidence that Mr Ristevski has given today, if I could have that 

indulgence?  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. What are the topics, Ms Richardson?  10 

 

MS RICHARDSON: Just on the question of social media and the Macedonian 

team. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. All right.  15 

 

MS RICHARDSON: Thank you.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Ms Hamilton-Jewell, you'll be given an opportunity, if you 

need to, to further examine the councillor.  20 

 

MS RICHARDSON: Could NMA.014.001.0005 be brought up, please. And 

perhaps if that could not be live streamed. Do you recall being asked some questions 

by senior counsel assisting and myself about this post -  

 25 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS RICHARDSON: - Councillor Ristevski? And if we could just scroll down, just 

to familiarise yourself with it again. We can see a comment made by a Justin B, 

with - the surname starting with B. Do you see that? 30 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS RICHARDSON: And then we see your reaction to that comment below.  

 35 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS RICHARDSON: So you agree that when you were asked questions of this by 

counsel assisting you accepted that that comment by you, "Now that would be very 

ironic," was a comment that you made? 40 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS RICHARDSON: That was your response - 

 45 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  
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MS RICHARDSON: - to the social media post from Justin B? You agree with that? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS RICHARDSON: And you had - I can take you to it, but there were 5 

multiple - and if we go down the next page - that the comment where we see the two 

hands together and the Australian flag, you accept that - in evidence you gave in 

response to questions from me and Ms McDonald, that that was you reacting to the 

comment; correct? 

 10 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 

MS RICHARDSON: And this was activity happening in September 2025? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Mmm.  15 

 

MS RICHARDSON: So do you agree with me that it is you reacting to these 

comments - you personally reacting to these comments and not someone in 

Macedonia? Correct? 

 20 

MR RISTEVSKI: Those two?  

 

MS RICHARDSON: Yes.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  25 

 

MS RICHARDSON: So you're not suggesting that any reaction to comments made 

in your Facebook are done by the Macedonian team, are you? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Those two comments were done by me.  30 

 

MS RICHARDSON: So those two were made by you? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 35 

MS RICHARDSON: So it is the case that you do react to comments on your 

Facebook page; correct? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes, I do. Not all of them.  

 40 

MS RICHARDSON: And it's not the case that you have outsourced all of that to a 

team in Macedonia; correct? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: There's a thousand comments, and I attend to as much as I can. 

The ones that I don't, they do.  45 

 

MS RICHARDSON: So just in answer to my question, it's - 
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MR RISTEVSKI: Well, those two that have been brought up -  

 

MS RICHARDSON: Just wait for my question. In answer to my question, it's not 

the case that you have outsourced to some team in Macedonia the task of reacting to 5 

all comments on your Facebook page; is that correct? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I don't understand your question. Are we talking about these 

two?  

 10 

MS RICHARDSON: Just listen to my question.  

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Well, break it up, because - like, you're taking me from here to 

there. Just do it one at a time and I'll answer it.  

 15 

MS RICHARDSON: Do you agree with me that you have not outsourced the task 

of reacting to every comment on your Facebook page to a team in Macedonia? 

Correct? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: They do some, I do some.  20 

 

MS RICHARDSON: And you agree that you did these two? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes.  

 25 

MS RICHARDSON: Those are my questions. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Ms Hamilton-Jewell, is there anything? No. 

 

MS McDONALD: Can I just ask - how do you determine which ones you do and 30 

which ones they do? 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: There is no system. I log on, I do as much as I can and then they 

do some. We try and get through every single comment. You can't systemise 

everything in this life. 35 

 

MS McDONALD: So is it the system that - as you said, you log on and you do 

some. If there are some that you don't react to, then is the default position the 

Macedonian team will then react? 

 40 

MR RISTEVSKI: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Nothing further. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Councillor - councillor? 45 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Sorry.  
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COMMISSIONER: That's all right. 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: I thought you were talking to - okay. 

 5 

COMMISSIONER: That brings your evidence - your - 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Thank you. 

 

COMMISSIONER: - oral evidence to a close.  10 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Thank you. You've been very fair. Thank you. 

 

COMMISSIONER: I'm very grateful for your attendance and your attention and 

your assistance -  15 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Thank you.  

 

COMMISSIONER: - over however many days we're up to now that you've been 

here.  20 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Thank you. Thank you.  

 

COMMISSIONER: You're free to go for the moment. As you are probably aware, 

I'm asked not to formally release anybody - 25 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: No problem. 

 

COMMISSIONER: - but we are fast approaching the conclusion of the hearing, so - 

 30 

MR RISTEVSKI: Thank you.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I hope to be able to let you know via your legal representatives 

that you will be released from your summons, but there may be an off chance that we 

need to get you back. But thank you. I'm very grateful. You're free to go for the 35 

moment. 

 

MR RISTEVSKI: Thank you. You're doing a great job. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Put that in bold on the transcript. Thank you, Councillor.  40 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW 

 

COMMISSIONER: Are we resuming with Mr Knappick? 

 45 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 
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COMMISSIONER: Is it convenient to take the break now?  

 

MR PARISH: Not yet. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Mr Parish wants to say something first. 5 

 

MR PARISH: I need to say something unrelated to whether you're doing a good job 

or not. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Well, no one objected, so - 10 

 

MR PARISH: No, that's true. We, as council, are obviously an employer- 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 15 

MR PARISH: - and we have obligations to our staff. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MR PARISH: And from time to time we in the inquiry make forensic decisions that 20 

staff members may not necessarily agree with. And we've reached a point in respect 

of Ms Boustani where she wishes to appear, we are instructed, legally represented, to 

make an application possibly about some of Mr Knappick's evidence. We are 

currently informed that that may relate to the evidence that was given last Thursday, 

and it may relate to what happens this afternoon. 25 

 

COMMISSIONER: I see. 

 

MR PARISH: They were intending to appear at 2 pm on the basis that Mr Knappick 

was going to be recalled at 2 pm.  30 

 

COMMISSIONER: I see. 

 

MR PARISH: As I understand it, they're not coming down until 2 pm. 

 35 

COMMISSIONER: I see. 

 

MR PARISH: I rise to both foreshadow the application that is intended to be made 

and point out the difficulty in perhaps commencing Mr Knappick's evidence in the 

absence of Ms Boustani's legal representatives. 40 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. I'm aware that an application on behalf of Ms 

Boustani for authorisation to appear was made previously. That was deferred on the 

basis of what counsel assisting told me back then, that there was no criticism being 

made of her as opposed to an examination of the process. But things change, and so 45 

they're perfectly entitled to seek authorisation to appear. Well, why don't I do this. I'll 

take the morning tea adjournment, we're close to that time anyway. Perhaps some 
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communication can be had with their legal representatives. I'll wait to resume until 

I'm told that we're ready. Is that convenient, Ms McDonald?  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 

 5 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. All right. I just see Mr Knappick walked in only to be told 

he can go and get a cup of coffee. I'll adjourn until I'm advised we're ready to 

resume. Thank you, Mr Parish. Yes. Thank you.  

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 11.24 AM 10 

 

<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 12.06 PM 

 

<CRAIG KNAPPICK, ON FORMER OATH 

 15 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Mr Knappick, you're on your oath from Thursday. 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Thank you, Commissioner. 

 

MS McDONALD: Commissioner, before recommencing the questions of 20 

Mr Knappick - 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: - my learned friend Mr Parish raised an issue about Ms Boustani 25 

applying for representation. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: We understand that her legal team will be available at 2 o'clock. 30 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: What I intend to do is ask Mr Knappick some questions about 

other areas which shouldn't concern Ms Boustani. Can I just repeat a statement that I 35 

made in the inquiry on 21 August this year, and that was that - and at that stage there 

was some evidence about the role of senior adviser - and that's at 

transcript 1435 - that we anticipate the inquiry is looking at the issue with the senior 

adviser position - in what was the position, how it was filled, who did it answer to, 

how did it operate in practice. 40 

 

The questions that were put to Mr Knappick last Thursday, in our submission, 

continued within those confines about the senior adviser position. We then moved to 

the issue of the re-organisation - or the proposed re-organisation of the council, and 

again there had been issues that have arisen about the senior adviser position, its 45 

status, how - the redundancy provisions and practices being applied to that position 

and what has been occurring with the restructure. From the counsel assisting's team, 
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the restraints that we set out back in August - in our submission, we are still 

attempting to comply with it.  

 

COMMISSIONER: So what I understand from all of that and what I understood 

back in August is that there's no criticism of Ms Boustani, her conduct, her 5 

performance of her role, her engagement with the processes from time to time.  

 

MS McDONALD: That's correct. We're looking at process. 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Well, that can be recorded and re-conveyed to her 10 

legal team, but we'll see them at 2 o'clock. Can we deal with some different areas?  

 

MR RAMRAHKA: Commissioner, can I just enquire of counsel assisting 

that - Commissioner, of - 

 15 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MR RAMRAHKA: - the inquiry - whether that also extends to other individuals 

more generally in the broad systems - sort of terms of reference in the inquiry. 

 20 

COMMISSIONER: I'm not sure I'm following the import of what's being sought for 

clarification, but - 

 

MR RAMRAHKA: Well, does it - does the - 

 25 

COMMISSIONER: - I would expect that if there is to be criticism made of 

anybody's conduct or the performance of their role, that that would be put to them 

directly.  

 

MR RAMRAHKA: Thank you. 30 

 

COMMISSIONER: Have I - 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 35 

COMMISSIONER: - misunderstand anything or - 

 

MS McDONALD: No. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 40 

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Knappick, I want to return to some evidence you gave last 

Thursday.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Certainly. 45 
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MS McDONALD: In the interim, a notice was issued to the council and - which 

sought clarification of the various versions of the proposed organisational structure 

that has been proposed as part of tranche 2. 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Certainly. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, that notice was issued to the council. Did you assist or 

have any input into the answering of that notice? If you did, it would have occurred 

probably on Thursday or - excuse me. When was it issued? On Thursday or Friday. 

If you didn't, it doesn't matter. 10 

 

MR KNAPPICK: No, I'm not exactly sure what you're referring to, so - 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Can I take you now through a series of documents that 

we've received which I think clarifies the position. As you gave evidence last 15 

Thursday, the re-organisation of the council - we had tranche 1, which involved the 

abolition of two directorates. 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: And that has taken place? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And as part of that, a number of people have been made 25 

redundant? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, the next step, tranche 2, is to set out the proposed 30 

organisation of what is to be known as the Office of the Chief Executive Officer? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Now, could we first bring up the document 35 

LCC.030.003.0001. And it can be live streamed. And you remember, I took you to 

this document, which was dated around - I think the metadata was around 25 August 

of this year. 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I recall. 40 

 

MS McDONALD: And if we first go through to page 9. That was the - at this point, 

the proposed set-up of the Office of the CEO? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: At that time, yes. 45 
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MS McDONALD: And then if we go to page 10, that was the proposed set-up for 

the Performance and Innovation team? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: At that time, yes. 

 5 

MS McDONALD: My recollection is that your evidence is that that hasn't been 

changed.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: There might be slight changes to that, now that I look at it, 

compared to what was put out for consultation for the staff. It's very similar, but I 10 

think there might be another team in there - so with Corporate Strategy, I think. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Could we then go through to page 12. And this was the 

Strategic Projects team? 

 15 

MR KNAPPICK: At that time, yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: I took you to this, and you indicated that from the proposed 

structure at the moment there had been some changes? 

 20 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And you identified what the changes were? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I did. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. Now, we were then trying to work out what the current 

proposed structure is. And we took you to - this is LCC.032.001.0028. And it can be 

live streamed. Do you remember we took you to this email, which forwarded a letter 

from Mr Breton, and you identified that this was the commencement of consultation 30 

with the staff about the proposed organisational change? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now - and if we move down that page. Sorry, if - right. If we 35 

keep on going, you can see that it's got a: 

 

"Click here to access the organisational structure and position descriptions." 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. That's right. 40 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, on Thursday we took you to a document, which was 

LCC.032.001 - and I think it's 0031. Yes. And I showed that to you and we were 

trying to work out what was the organisational structure that was issued to the staff.  

 45 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, I recall that. 
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MS McDONALD: And do you recall that when you looked at that proposed 

structure you made a comment that some of the - for example, the head of - I think of 

Strategic Communications - your understanding was the most recent structure that 

had been removed? 

 5 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And I think also head of Strategic Procurement had been 

removed? 

 10 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And head of Strategic Precincts had become head of, I think, 

Strategic Opportunities? 

 15 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And we're all a little bit - well, I think from our perspective we're 

a bit confused about where the new structure was.  

 20 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. Excuse me.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: I wasn't confused, but I think - 25 

 

MS McDONALD: I was trying to (indistinct).  

 

COMMISSIONER: I was waiting for that.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: If I bring up this structure, KNA.001.001.0005. Yes, please. You 

can see there it's Office of the CEO proposed for consultation, with a date 

of September 2025 up in the left-hand corner? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. I see that. 35 

 

MS McDONALD: And you can see there that we've got the chief executive officer, 

and reporting directly to him we have manager Performance and Innovation, and 

then we also have the senior manager Strategic Projects? 

 40 

MR KNAPPICK: I see that. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then leading from the senior manager Strategic Projects, we 

then have a number of roles, starting with head Strategic Opportunities, head 

Strategic Revenue, head Strategic Properties, and then head Economic Development 45 

and Strategy? 
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MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: When you spoke about - when I showed you the one 

from August and that it had changed, is this the organisational structure that you had 

in mind? 5 

 

MR KNAPPICK: It is definitely one I had in mind. 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. And is it your understanding that this version has been 

circulated to staff for consultation? 10 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. Where you "click here", in reference to that 

previous memo from the CEO - you noted it said: 

 

"Click here for the organisational structure and position descriptions."  15 

 

This is the organisational structure it would have shown. 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. Can I just ask you, with the senior manager Strategic 

Projects - the next, in a sense, level down are entitled Head Strategic Opportunities, 20 

Head Strategic Revenue, et cetera. The - if I can call it the classification "head", 

within Liverpool City Council is that a new classification? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: It's not a classification, it's a role titling. 

 25 

MS McDONALD: Okay.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: They fall under the manager classification, for want of a better 

term. 

 30 

MS McDONALD: Right. So it's - a head of Strategic Revenue is the equivalent of a 

manager? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 35 

MS McDONALD: And the way it's structured - we've got head Strategic Revenue. 

There's going to be a direct report from Strategic Revenue lead? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 40 

MS McDONALD: Again, "lead" is a role description? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Under the classifications of the workforce at Liverpool City 45 

Council, does that equate with another role? 
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MR KNAPPICK: It's a graded role, so it falls within the grading bands of the 

award. So it's not a manager level. 

 

MS McDONALD: So it's underneath manager? 

 5 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. The exact classification for that particular role I can't recall, 

but it could be anywhere between a grade 15 and a grade 18 or 19. I don't know off 

the top of my head. 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. And then under head Strategic Properties we've got the 10 

Property team, and you can see that that's got a dotted line around it.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: The Property team is - sorry, what does the dotted line around it 15 

indicate? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: It means that it's multiple roles. It's a whole team whose line of 

reporting is moving to the head of Strategic Projects. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: Right. So is the Property team, sorry, currently part of 

normal - the remaining four directorates? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, it is. 

 25 

MS McDONALD: And the proposal is that they will be moved from that directorate 

into the Office of the CEO? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, that's what's proposed. 

 30 

MS McDONALD: Right. Then you've got Strategic Properties lead. Again, under 

Strategic Properties lead, is it anticipated there will be any other roles or is that a 

standalone? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's - as it appears here and is my understanding - is a 35 

standalone. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. And then if we go to head Economic Development and 

Strategy, again we've got that dotted line around the Economic Development team. Is 

it the same? That that indicates an already existing team which is in one of the four 40 

current directorates? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And the proposal is that they will be moved from that directorate 45 

and moved into this structure for the Office of the CEO? 
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MR KNAPPICK: That's right. It's a change of reporting. 

 

MS McDONALD: And I take it underneath the Economic Development team and 

also the Property team - does that mean that there are a number of different roles of 

different seniority and responsibility? 5 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then we've got head Strategic Opportunities. On this 

structure, that's a standalone position? 10 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: With nobody reporting to that - whoever's in that position? 

 15 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute. In addition, pursuant to the notice, we 

received a number of position descriptions. If I can bring at least one up. This is 

LCC.041.001.0040. Yes, please. Now, this is the head of Strategic Opportunities, 20 

and I just took you to that box within the proposed structure.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And you can see here this is - it's the proposed position 25 

description. It doesn't currently have a position number. So that indicates - state the 

obvious, it's still draft, being consulted? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 30 

MS McDONALD: And also that's reflected that there's no date of approval? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then if we move through this document, it's - as we've seen 35 

with the new format with other position descriptions, you've got intent and primary 

purpose of the position. If we move to page 2, position outcomes and 

accountabilities. Down the bottom, decision-making authority and responsibilities. 

Across the page, key relationships. And then organisational design. In this particular 

position description, you've actually included an extract from the proposed 40 

organisational structure? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. However, we've got manager Strategic Projects. That's 45 

incorrect, isn't it? 
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MR KNAPPICK: It is incorrect. That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: So that should have been senior management? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Senior manager, yes. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: And in the next line, down, when it's got positions of Strategic 

Properties coordinator, the coordinator positions have now changed? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. It should be - read "lead". 10 

 

MS McDONALD: "Lead". So you've changed - is it just a matter of - 

 

MR KNAPPICK: The title. 

 15 

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: The titling. Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: I was about to say the role description. 20 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. And is it your understanding that what has been 

distributed to the staff at the council includes - I won't bring it up again, but 25 

the September 2025 structure? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then any relevant position description? 30 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And according to the email from Mr Breton, I think consultation 

concluded on 4 November.  35 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. I thought it was the 7th, but I stand to be corrected. Yes. 

Something around then. 

 

MS McDONALD: I think you gave evidence on Thursday collation of the 40 

consultation and consideration of comments made as part of the consultation is still 

ongoing? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. My team were collating all the commentary on 

that last week. I believe they did complete that on Friday. 45 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. And so what are the steps ahead? 
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MR KNAPPICK: That document is now - I think been sent to Mr Breton at the end 

of last week, and it's for his consideration, in consultation with his executive team, to 

consider the feedback that's been said and to weigh up the commentary that's been 

made. Some things may result in changes, some things may not. There will be, 5 

obviously, answers provided regarding what people have suggested.  

 

And then, I think as I was explaining last time, depending upon the quantum of that 

change, if it's very significant, we would possibly have to consult on - on new 

structure if it's significantly different. If it's - if I can use the - and tweaks. Then we 10 

would say, "Thank you for your feedback. There are some tweaks that have been 

made to it," and we would proceed then to the joint consultative committee process. 

 

MS McDONALD: And you've given evidence about that. That is a matter of 

consultation - that the committee doesn't have any power of veto or anything like 15 

that.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: Assuming that they agree with it or if their comments, after 20 

being considered, don't lead to any change, then you'll have this structure 

introduced? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. 

 25 

COMMISSIONER: Mr Knappick, can you just remind me, who comprises the 

JCC? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: There are members from each of the unions and then there are 

elected management representatives - I think there are two directors on it. One of my 30 

staff, who's a lead - or a coordinator attends. And then one of the union reps 

generally chairs the meeting. 

 

COMMISSIONER: And how often does it meet. 

 35 

MR KNAPPICK: Monthly. There can be extraordinary ones called if so needed. 

 

COMMISSIONER: And it has a terms of - there's terms of reference for the 

committee? 

 40 

MR KNAPPICK: It certainly has a - not a constitution, something similar to that 

nature. 

 

MS McDONALD: Could we just bring up LCC.028.001.0193. And if you would go 

to page 3, please.  45 
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COMMISSIONER: Let's just bring it up in the room and we'll see where we're 

going, and see if there's an issue. 

 

MS McDONALD: If you just continue down that page. I just wanted to - no, no. 

Back a little bit so we have all the attendees there. You can see "committee members 5 

present"? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And it lists a number of people with their particular roles? 10 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Then you've got "guests present". And at this particular meeting, 

for example, Mr Breton was present? 15 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Margot Kindley, who you spoke about last Thursday? 

 20 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: I don't think you're there, are you? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: No, that was - 25 

 

MS McDONALD: You were overseas? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: - when I was on six-week -  

 30 

MS McDONALD: That's right. 

 

MR KNAPPICK: - leave in the USA. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then you've got particular apologies.  35 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And the "guests present", is that usually if somebody is speaking 

about a particular item that's - 40 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Exactly. 

 

MS McDONALD: - raised for discussion? 

 45 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 
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COMMISSIONER: Can you just help me with some of the acronyms, Mr 

Knappick? USU I know. 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 5 

COMMISSIONER: DEPA? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I do know. I'm having a mental blank at the moment. 

 

COMMISSIONER: That's all right. LGEA? 10 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Local Government Engineering Association, I think. 

 

COMMISSIONER: That's right. Yes. All right. Thank you. 

 15 

MS McDONALD: Excuse me. All right. I want to move now to a different topic.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Recruitment. At the beginning of this year there was the 20 

recruitment for the appointment of a permanent CEO? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And you were involved in the process? 25 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I was involved, yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, Mr Breton, who was the acting CEO, was one of the 

applicants? 30 

 

MR KNAPPICK: He was. 

 

MS McDONALD: And obviously that means that he couldn't be involved with the 

procedure - 35 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: - of the recruitment.  

 40 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And also Ms Tina Bono was also an applicant? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. 45 
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MS McDONALD: Within the council, who then took over responsibility for 

organising the recruitment? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I was the administrative coordinator for it. Yes. I had some 

assistance from the head of Recruitment, who works in my team, who reports to me. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: That's Mr Smith? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's Mr Smith. That's correct.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: When did the process commence? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: My timing in my head isn't accurate. It might have 

been February, March. I can't recall with accuracy. It was a long period of time it 

took because we went through two processes. 15 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. I want to ask you some questions about that. With a 

recruitment to a position such as the CEO, a recruitment panel is established? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. Yes. 20 

 

MS McDONALD: Is it fair to say that traditionally a recruitment panel would have, 

for example, a select number of councillors on it? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. Correct. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: Often there is an outsider from a recruitment provider? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Firm. Yes. Yes. 

 30 

MS McDONALD: And is there an independent person - for example, somebody 

quite separate from Liverpool City Council - on the recruitment council - recruitment 

panel? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: So there's somebody who looks at the procurement process and 35 

the whole process to ensure that it is compliant with legislation - fair and equitable 

processes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Is that person separate from the recruitment agency that you use? 

 40 

MR KNAPPICK: They are. They are. Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, you spoke about going through two processes.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 45 
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MS McDONALD: To begin with with, if we describe it as the first process, the 

recruitment panel - at that stage, the proposal was - and this was put into 

operation - that all councillors would be part of the recruitment panel? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. That was a decision made at council, that they would all 5 

sit on the panel. And my understanding was that they all concurred that that was the 

best way forward. 

 

MS McDONALD: So that means all 11? 

 10 

MR KNAPPICK: All 11, as well as the recruiting agency and the person from the 

procurement probity perspective as well. 

 

MS McDONALD: Well, that was going to be my next question. At that point, who 

was the recruitment agency? 15 

 

MR KNAPPICK: It was an organisation called Oceans Group. 

 

MS McDONALD: And who was the recruitment probity person? 

 20 

MR KNAPPICK: From an organisation called Procure Group. 

 

MS McDONALD: Just going through again the procedure with it - to state the 

obvious, advertisements are put out? 

 25 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Applicants are - applications, I'm sorry, are received? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Certainly. 30 

 

MS McDONALD: The first kind of vetting of the applications to get it down to a 

manageable number, who undertakes that process? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: The recruiting agency do that. 35 

 

MS McDONALD: And did they come down with a certain shortlist? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: They did. 

 40 

MS McDONALD: How many were in that shortlist? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I think they had well over 80 applicants, maybe more, and they 

came down to around 20, I think. Maybe a few more - 25, from my recollection. 

 45 

MS McDONALD: And at that point, the - I'll describe it as the 11 councillors - are 

they having any input or involvement in this? 
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MR KNAPPICK: Not from the large quantity down to the smaller quantity. It's 

typical in the recruiting industry that you receive large amounts of applications, 

sometimes many of which are - don't meet the lowest benchmarks to go forward. 

 5 

MS McDONALD: So your recollection is it got down to 20. Before involving the 

panel of the 11 councillors, were the numbers decreased any further of applicants 

that were going to be considered? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: There was a - when Oceans Group presented to the committee 10 

they outlined in their professional view which ones they thought were the best. 

 

MS McDONALD: Out of the 20? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Out of the 20. 15 

 

MS McDONALD: And from that, was there then a cutting back to a certain 

number? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's right. 20 

 

MS McDONALD: And who made the determination of who would be included in 

this shortlist? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: The council, because they were the panel. So they agreed with 25 

what Oceans Group had said is my recollection. 

 

MS McDONALD: And cutting back from the 20, at the next stage, how many 

applicants were on the list? 

 30 

MR KNAPPICK: I think about eight. 

 

MS McDONALD: And I'm just taking you through the procedure and I'm not going 

to any of the controversy that occurred through this.  

 35 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: But you're down to eight. Does that - in a sense, are those eight 

the finalists? 

 40 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Who are then, in a sense - if there's going to be a requirement for 

presentations or interviews, it's going to concentrate on those eight? 

 45 

MR KNAPPICK: Most definitely. 
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MS McDONALD: And then from those eight, is it anticipated that the successful 

applicant will be selected or is there a further cutting down into either - a smaller 

shortlist? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: It depends is the answer. My experience in the - in government is 5 

that often they just choose one. But there are some circumstances, less frequently, 

where they get down to two or three. They can't decide from one interview - I think 

is normal - that there's a stand-out, and so sometimes they do cut down to two or 

three and then further interviews might take place. 

 10 

MS McDONALD: Interviews or presentations? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Presentations, meetings for Q&A discussion. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Sorry. Mr Knappick, in that answer you referenced something 15 

which you thought was normal. Just so I understand, is the "normal", in your 

experience - more frequently happens is there's one interview and a decision is made 

or the normal being - 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Frequently, one interview takes place and decision is made. I 20 

personally don't believe that it's the right way to choose a CEO or any executive 

member. I think people should have multiple interviews, which is what happens in 

the private sector. 

 

COMMISSIONER: But your experience in government over - 25 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Is that that is the general way it goes - one. 

 

MS McDONALD: When you answered that it's your experience with government, 

is that Local Government or does it also include - 30 

 

MR KNAPPICK: No. I include state and federal in that. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, you've got the recruitment agency involved. You've also 

got Procure Group? 35 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: The process and procedure that was going to be followed leading 

up to the appointment of the CEO, was that in a separate document or did you just 40 

rely on the - sorry - or did you rely on the recruitment policy of council in existence? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: No. We also prepared a separate document. It's normal for 

agencies to prepare their own document which outlines how they've been through the 

whole sourcing and then culling of applicants to the 20-odd people that they put 45 

forward. There was also a document prepared with Procure Group that referenced the 

policy in order to train the councillors around good recruiting and selection process. 
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So I had asked Procure Group to do that, to ensure that we conducted a fair and 

equitable process. 

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry. So this document, it was prepared by Procure Group? 

 5 

MR KNAPPICK: That's my recollection, I think. Yes. And - but we had provided 

them with, sort of, information regarding policy or legislative requirements under 

government. 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. Can you recall what that document was entitled? 10 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I can't exactly, but it would have been something like "good 

recruiting practice" or - 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, if we can return to the events of the recruitment process. 15 

You've got the recruitment panel consisting of the 11 councillors plus a 

representative from Oceans Group? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: The probity - the person from Procure Group, are they actually 

part of the panel or are they like a third-party observer to the process? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: The latter. They're not making any decisions, they're not advising 

on who they think. They're just advising on process compliance. 25 

 

COMMISSIONER: Is that the same for Oceans at that stage? Although they were 

providing advice on candidates in particular, they weren't a voting member of the 

committee, as it were? 

 30 

MR KNAPPICK: So Oceans were facilitating the session and ensuring that it 

moved along during the time period. There was another person who was in a 

different company that is part of the group that Oceans Group exist in who was on 

the panel, and he was the chair of the panel.  

 35 

COMMISSIONER: So that's the independent member of the panel? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's the independent person which -  

 

COMMISSIONER: So at that stage it was the 11 councillors plus this independent - 40 

 

MR KNAPPICK: The independent. 

 

MS McDONALD: And who was that person? 

 45 

MR KNAPPICK: His first name was Simon. I can't recall his surname, sorry. 
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MS McDONALD: Okay. Now, if I can just take you through broadly the 

chronology and then returning to certain events. I think you described initially that it 

was a long process because there were kind of two recruitment processes? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: There was. That's correct. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: The first one, you had a recruitment panel of the 11 councillors 

plus the independent person, Simon? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. 10 

 

MS McDONALD: And did it get to the stage where - Simon Meyer? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Thank you. That's the surname. Correct. Thank you. 

 15 

MS McDONALD: And did it get to the stage where the committee - I'm sorry, the 

recruitment panel were considering a certain number of applicants? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: They were. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: At that point, was - did an issue arise about the integrity of the 

recruitment process? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 25 

MS McDONALD: When did that arise? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: So the first time it arose was that - during the reduction in the 

number of candidates from 20 to seven or eight - and obviously Oceans Group had 

said, "These are the ones that we would recommend going forward." There was a 30 

period of time given in the - Oceans Group referred to it as the "longlisting process". 

So during the meeting that was held, there was a period of time where the councillors 

were given the resumes and the applications to read through them, to help them make 

the decision as to which ones they believed should be interviewed, because although 

Oceans Group had recommended a number, that was a recommendation. The 35 

councillors, as the panel, had to decide who they wanted to interview.  

 

MS McDONALD: Did the councillors only consider the Oceans Group shortlist? 

They didn't go back to the 80-odd applications? 

 40 

MR KNAPPICK: No, they didn't go back to the 80. No. But I'm fairly sure they 

went back - they had the 20 in front of them. 

 

MS McDONALD: You said - I asked you about the integrity of the process. You 

made a comment that this was the first time. What arose during this meeting? Or - 45 
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MR KNAPPICK: There was a period of time given by Oceans Group to the panel 

members to sit there and read the applications. A number of them didn't. 

 

MS McDONALD: A number of the councillors didn't? 

 5 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And did that have any - what was the repercussion of a 

number of councillors not reading the applications? 

 10 

MR KNAPPICK: At the end of that reading session, when they were brought back 

together by Oceans Group and by the chair, they said, "Who do you want to move 

forward with?" And the concurrence was that they move forward with the ones that 

Oceans Group had recommended. 

 15 

MS McDONALD: And, sorry, this opportunity for councillors to read through the 

20 and see whether they accept the recommendation by Oceans Group, is that 

done - I'm thinking about when the budget is released in Canberra, you have kind of 

the lock-up of people sitting around and they're not allowed to take out of the room 

the document. Was it a process like that? 20 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's exactly what happened. So they were given folders with 

the copies of the documents in it and they sat around the table, with - each with their 

own version - to read the documents. Some of them were excellent; they sat there 

and they read through the applications to help form their decision. It was quite 25 

noticeable to me and to the chair and to Oceans Group and to the probity officer that 

a number were not sitting there reading. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. But ultimately, the result of this decision was that the 

recommendation by Oceans Group was accepted by the panel? 30 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: So your issue about the integrity of the process was your 

observation that it appeared a couple - some councillors weren't reading the 35 

applications and engaging in the process? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Was there a second incident of - when the integrity of 40 

the process came into question? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. On the day of the first interviews. 

 

MS McDONALD: What was the day of the first interviews? 45 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Sorry, I can't recall the date. 



 

 

 

 

LCC Inquiry – 17.11.2025 P-3291  Transcript by Law In Order 

 

 

 

MS McDONALD: Can I just use - I'm coming up to this. There is evidence before 

the inquiry about a meeting of the councillors, I think, on 20 February.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: All right. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: Do you recall that particular meeting? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Was the context to have the first interviews? Is that what you're 

referring to? 10 

 

MS McDONALD: Well, I was using that as a date where you could - it might assist 

your recollection of - the date of the first interviews was two weeks before then or it 

was a day before or - 

 15 

MR KNAPPICK: So we had the longlist and the shortlist process. Then a date was 

set for when we would conduct the interview. With that, you always have to take into 

account the availability of the candidates themselves because at this level they're in 

senior roles. You can't necessarily dictate, "You will be there on this day at this 

time," so the interviews were to be conducted over a number of days. Then Oceans 20 

Group do all that organisation. They had organised for - I think it was two people to 

be interviewed on the first evening. To fit in with the fact that some councillors have 

full-time jobs, these interviews were conducted in the late afternoon, early evening. 

So generally we're talking between about 4.30 and 7. On the night of the first 

interviews - 25 

 

MS McDONALD: Can I just stop you.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 30 

MS McDONALD: What I was after was when roughly that - first interviews were 

conducted.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: I cannot recall the date at all. But if somebody told me the date 

I'd probably say, "That's likely." 35 

 

MS McDONALD: Just assisting you - with that meeting on 20 February, that 

doesn't assist you kind of working backwards - it was two weeks before that or - 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Possibly. Possibly it was two weeks before that. February/March 40 

was when it was all happening, and then we went into the be second round after that. 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. Can you just excuse me. So that - your recollection is in 

this first process there were some interviews of candidates? 

 45 

MR KNAPPICK: No. 
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MS McDONALD: So none of the interviews took place? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Why didn't any of the interviews of candidates take place? 5 

 

MR KNAPPICK: So this was the more significant breach of confidentiality that had 

happened. All councillors, during their first meeting, when - there had been a 

meeting where they were trained on good recruitment process and they also had to 

sign non-disclosure agreements and confidentiality forms, which they all signed. 10 

Then on the night of - or the late afternoon, early evening of first interviews there 

were two people to be interviewed, both of which were people from out of town. I 

think I recollect one was from up the coast of New South Wales somewhere, and I 

think the other was in Canberra. So obviously flights and accommodation, et cetera, 

had been arranged for these individuals to turn up. 15 

 

Approximately - maybe half an hour to an hour before the panel met it was brought 

to my attention that there had been a social media post that referenced particular 

applicants. That was brought - I brought that to the attention of both Oceans Group 

and to the probity person from Procure Group. With that, when the panel 20 

commenced, the facilitator of Oceans Group, chair and probity officer all spoke up 

and, for want of a better word, admonished the panel - or somebody on the panel 

who must have, by normal inference, leaked the names of a few people who were 

applicants. 

 25 

MS McDONALD: All right. Did that - so that led to the interviews not occurring? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's right. So even though the people had been brought down 

here on flights, they were told, "You are not having your interview this evening." 

 30 

MS McDONALD: Can I - you spoke about the panel receiving training on the 

recruitment. Who conducted the training? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Oceans Group and Procure Group. 

 35 

MS McDONALD: Now, did that - the question of the allegation that somebody 

leaked names, did that lead up to the abandonment of the first panel? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: It did. 

 40 

MS McDONALD: When did that occur? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Oceans Group, I recall, made the announcement at that meeting 

that they would no longer be party to such a scenario. That it was pretty much 

of - being brand-damaging to their name to be involved in such a scenario. 45 

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry, when you say "a scenario", the recruitment process? 
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MR KNAPPICK: Well, what had happened. 

 

COMMISSIONER: By that, do I understand that they withdrew themselves from 

further involvement in the recruitment process altogether or - 5 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct, Commissioner. 

 

MS McDONALD: I'll bring up a document. It's LCC.003.001.0043. I'm just trying 

to get timing again, Mr Knappick. Yes, please. I'm not going to take you to all of this 10 

email from you at the moment, but it's just to assist you with dates.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Certainly. 

 

MS McDONALD: Can you see it's an email dated 24 February from you to 15 

Michelle McIlvenny? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then the subject is "Incident". And then you've got:  20 

 

"Better councillors on Thursday night."  

 

And then you can see at the beginning you talk about a meeting at 5.30 on Thursday 

the 20th? 25 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Present were councillors with one exception, Oceans Group reps, 

Procure Group and yourself? 30 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then: 

 35 

"The meeting was opened by me and I explained the cancellation of the 3 days of 

interviews and that Oceans Group and Procure Group would now provide a verbal 

report." 

 

And then you set out the verbal report. Now, just reading that, this meeting that 40 

occurred on the 30th of - sorry, on 20 February, is that when Oceans Group and 

Procure - sorry, I withdraw that - at least Oceans Group formally withdrew from the 

process? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. 45 

 

MS McDONALD: Did Procure Group? 
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MR KNAPPICK: No. 

 

MS McDONALD: So they remained throughout as the probity officer.  

 5 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Probity group.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 10 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. And I won't go to all the details of this at the moment, but 

after this meeting, is that when the council - sorry, the recruitment panel of the 11 

councillors then change and become a recruitment panel with a smaller number of 

councillors on board? 15 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That is correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And when that new recruitment panel was established, did it - it 

then - obviously then met? 20 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Do you recall when it met? 

 25 

MR KNAPPICK: I think we're talking late March now. 

 

MS McDONALD: So there was a delay in resuming the recruitment process? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. We had to find a new recruiting agency. 30 

 

MS McDONALD: And who was that? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Chandler McLeod. 

 35 

COMMISSIONER: Mr Knappick, while that document's on the screen, do you see 

towards the bottom of the part of the document that's on the screen there's a 

paragraph that commences, "This was followed"? Do you see that? Don't move it.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 40 

 

COMMISSIONER: And then on the third line of that paragraph it starts, "damage 

done to LCC's EVP".  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 45 

 

COMMISSIONER: You see that? I know what LCC is, but what's EVP? 
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MR KNAPPICK: So that is an HR term, Commissioner.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 5 

MR KNAPPICK: Means "employee value proposition", and what that is 

is - organisations have something that attracts and retains people as to what people 

think about that company, "Do I want to work with that sort of company?" So if 

there's a brand damage to it, then a potential candidate might think that place hasn't 

got a good value proposition - to want to go and work there. So what I'm saying there 10 

is that this damages - particularly with the people - all candidates being told that the 

process is now being shut down - they then take back to their communities and 

people they know that the process didn't work properly, and then that doesn't make 

Liverpool Council look so good. And so that's damaged our value proposition to 

potential employees, hence the term "employee value proposition". 15 

 

COMMISSIONER: And this is a very general question, I accept, but what sort 

of things go into an assessment of an employee valuation proposition? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Culture, career opportunities. Just the good name of the business. 20 

Learning and development opportunities within the business. Yes, chances for 

promotion. 

 

COMMISSIONER: These are all things that sit outside salary and - 

 25 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. That's exactly right. Particularly in government, where 

salaries and benefits are fairly closely controlled. So it's all those other things that 

make a person want to go and work for a particular employee - employer. 

 

MS McDONALD: Just before we break for lunch - so does that include if an 30 

organisation is associated with - or it's raised sexual harassment? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That can certainly affect an employee value proposition. 

 

MS McDONALD: Bullying? 35 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Certainly. 

 

MS McDONALD: Intimidation of employees? 

 40 

MR KNAPPICK: Certainly. Certainly. 

 

MS McDONALD: Appointment - you raised promotional opportunities. If there are 

allegations of some kind of bias or inherent bias in appointments? 

 45 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. All those things impact people's view of an organisation. 
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COMMISSIONER: Is that a convenient time? 

 

MS McDONALD: It is. Thank you. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. All right. We'll adjourn for lunch, Mr Knappick. We'll 5 

resume at 2 pm.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Thank you, Commissioner.  

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 1.03 PM  10 

 

<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 2.06 PM 

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Knappick, I was dealing with the recruitment - 

 15 

COMMISSIONER: Just pause for a moment. There's someone new at the bar table.  

 

MR O'NEILL: Thank you, Commissioner. My name is O'Neill. I don't yet seek 

leave to appear, so that's why I'm just sitting here politely.  

 20 

COMMISSIONER: All right. 

 

MR O'NEILL: I will at the end of this topic. 

 

MS McDONALD: Commissioner, if I can - I had a quick word with my learned 25 

friend. I explained to him that I was dealing with a topic at the moment which didn't 

concern the person that he wishes to represent. 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: I was - 

 

COMMISSIONER: I unhelpfully interrupted then. 

 

MS McDONALD: No, no, no, no. I was then going to resume that. And then I think 35 

at that point, whatever position Mr O'Neill wants to take in respect of the further 

questions in that area, he was going to raise then. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Okay. All right. Yes. 

 40 

MS McDONALD: Right. Mr Knappick, CEO recruitment. I've taken you to that 

email that you sent that spoke about the meeting on 20 February. Can I just 

backtrack. You said that there was a meeting when the Oceans Group list of about 20 

was put to the recruitment panel, which consisted at least of the 11 councillors. And 

then you spoke about - it was at that meeting that they were supposed to read the 45 

applications, and that was to first determine whether they agreed with the Oceans 

Group recommendation that this should be the shortlist? 
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MR KNAPPICK: Well, to make their own mind up as to who should be on the 

shortlist, yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. Which could be an endorsement of the Oceans Group 5 

shortlist? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: It could be, yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Also at that meeting, were conflict of interest forms completed 10 

by the councillors? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, they had been completed by them. That was insisted on by 

Oceans Group and the probity group - the Procure Group. 

 15 

MS McDONALD: But to complete the conflict of interest forms you would have 

had to have known the proposed shortlist? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. Yes. And they filled them out at that meeting and a 

number of them declared that they knew certain individuals, and they signed off on 20 

that. 

 

MS McDONALD: I think all of them would have to have declared that they knew 

certain individuals because you had two applicants who were currently employees at 

the council? 25 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That is correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: So it was inevitable that a potential conflict of interest because of 

that knowledge of two people through working at the council would have had to have 30 

been disclosed? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, although a couple had to ask that question - whether they 

put those people down, and it was confirmed, yes, if you know them you put them 

down.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. I'll just bring you up - excuse me for a minute. I'll just 

bring up with you - for you LCC.034.002.0008 at _0013. Yes, please. Now, this is 

the top of the form, when it comes back. Liverpool City Council Conflict of Interest 

Form - Recruitment. And if we can just look at the beginning there, you can see 40 

Conflict of Interest in Recruitment, and it sets out particular considerations with a 

conflict of interest? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 45 
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MS McDONALD: And then if we proceed down the page, you've got details of 

recruitment and applicant, you've got the person who's a member of the 

committee - their name, and then under section 4, details of conflict of interest? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: And here we're looking at Councillor Karnib.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 10 

MS McDONALD: And Councillor Karnib refers to: 

 

"I've worked as a councillor with Mr Breton and Ms Bono in the last four to 

five months." 

 15 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, just looking at this form, this is a proforma conflict of 

interest form?  

 20 

MR KNAPPICK: It is. 

 

MS McDONALD: And as it's headed, if we go back to the beginning of the page, 

Conflict of Interest - Recruitment.  

 25 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: So it's the form that's used for any recruitment by the council? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's right. That's right. 30 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, I want to just take you to some of the top section. It refers 

to, first, the definition of conflict of interest. Do you see that? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, I do. 35 

 

MS McDONALD: Is that derived from the code of conduct? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I don't know whether they're the exact words out of the code of 

conduct, but that would be the source of the understanding of a conflict.  40 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Then if we continue down that section, we've got: 

 

"This declaration is to be completed and submitted to the talent acquisition team at 

the outset of the candidate shortlisting stage of the recruitment process." 45 

 

So was that complied with? 
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MR KNAPPICK: Yes. When they saw who the applicants were, they had to sit 

there and fill this form in. 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. And the talent acquisition team - 5 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: - who was that? 

 10 

MR KNAPPICK: That's the recruitment team that sits under me, headed by Philip 

Smith. 

 

MS McDONALD: So that's really a reference to you and Mr Smith? 

 15 

MR KNAPPICK: That is. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then if we look at the next paragraph: 

 

"Where a perceivable conflict of interest has been declared, the talent acquisition 20 

lead, in consultation with the governance team and/or the director of the vacant 

position will stipulate the actions to be taken to mitigate any conflict of interest." 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 25 

MS McDONALD: Now, the talent acquisition lead, who was that? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's Philip Smith. 

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Smith? 30 

 

MR KNAPPICK: It is. 

 

MS McDONALD: When it says "a perceivable conflict of interest", do you know 

what that means? 35 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Well, when the conflict is seen as potentially - meaning that the 

person shouldn't participate in the process because of some declaration that they've 

made down in that bottom section. 

 40 

MS McDONALD: Now, these forms, they appear to have been completed at this 

stage by all members - councillor members of the recruitment panel? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 45 

MS McDONALD: And they were completed on that day of the shortlisting? 
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MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And you can see, if we go to the next page, page - I think it's 

now 15 - _0015. You can see there Mr Karnib has signed it on 13 February 2025.  

 5 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: So that would suggest that the meeting where you were 

discussing the shortlist of candidates was 13 February? 

 10 

MR KNAPPICK: I suppose it would, yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And I can show you the others, but they're all signed -  

 

MR KNAPPICK: All the same. 15 

 

MS McDONALD: - on 13 February? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: Now, these would have been completed and then given to 

Mr Smith as the talent acquisition lead? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Well, no. In this instance they were given to - well, he would 

have had them in order to put them on record and on file, but they were also given to 25 

the Procure Group, who were the probity advisers as well. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. So that's what I wanted to ask you. The conflict of 

interest forms were first collected by Mr Smith and put on the recruitment file for the 

CEO position? 30 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. Well, he wasn't in attendance. I would have got them. I 

would have given them to him so he could put them into our online records, and they 

were also given to the person who was representing Procure Group as the probity 

adviser. 35 

 

MS McDONALD: The evidence before the inquiry is that none of these forms were 

ever tabled at any of the meetings of the recruitment panel.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: I don't understand. They completed them - the people who were 40 

on the panel completed them. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. And then handed them to either you or Mr Smith? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Handed them to myself, I think, in those meetings. 45 

 

MS McDONALD: You know at council meetings - 
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MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: At the beginning of a council meeting there is a - usually a 

declaration of any conflicts of interest? 5 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Right. You're referring to a council meeting? 

 

MS McDONALD: No, I'm just - I'm referring you to an example of - at a council 

meeting where there are possible conflicts of interest, the particular councillor who 10 

may be subject to a conflict of interest raises it expressly amongst the fellow council 

members.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: All right. 

 15 

MS McDONALD: That's correct, isn't it? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, I think that's what happens at council meetings. I don't 

attend most of them. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: All right. Here, the evidence before the inquiry is that there was 

no tabling or reference or - awful word - sharing with any other members of the 

recruitment panel of the completed conflict of interest form? Can I just ask you in 

stages.  

 25 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Is that your recollection of what occurred at this meeting on the 

13th? 

 30 

MR KNAPPICK: My recollection was - was there was general discussion around 

the table, with people saying things like, "Oh, we all know Jason. We all know Tina, 

so we have to put that down." 

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry, when they were filling out their forms? 35 

 

MR KNAPPICK: When - as they were filling out their forms there was general 

chitchat, and some of them mentioned that, "Well, we all need to put down Jason and 

Tina because we all know them." 

 40 

MS McDONALD: Yes. All right. But that was, as you described it, general 

chitchat? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Mmm. 

 45 

MS McDONALD: The actual forms that were completed and the content of those 

forms weren't tabled at the meeting? 
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MR KNAPPICK: No, if you mean - what was said was, "We've now got all the 

forms. We've collected those. Thank you." And they were given also to Procure 

Group, to see if there was any particular issues. 

 5 

MS McDONALD: But what I'm asking you is an equivalent as to what occurs at the 

council meeting where other councillors are informed of the possible conflict of 

interest and the basis for it - none of those details of any of the forms - with the 

exception of the chitchat about "we all know Jason, we all know Tina" - occurred? 

 10 

MR KNAPPICK: Not in terms of formal tabling, no. I do also recall 

somebody - and I can't recall who - saying, "Oh, well, some of us know Dr Eddie 

Jackson because he used to work here." 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. But that's another conflict of interest which - the source of it 15 

is previous employment by the council? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. Exactly. 

 

MS McDONALD: So in a sense, we've got potential conflict of interest because of 20 

Mr Breton, Ms Bono and Dr Jackson's prior employment by the council? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: In respect of at least, I think, two conflict of interest forms, 25 

additional information was provided by the person signing the form.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: The evidence before the inquiry is that additional information 30 

was not provided to the other councillors on the recruitment panel.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: That may be the case. 

 

MS McDONALD: The determination of what to do with these conflict of interest 35 

forms, it stipulates, as I've taken you to on the first page, that you give it to the talent 

acquisition lead.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 40 

MS McDONALD: Under the recruitment and appointment procedure - if we're 

looking at the one in operation in February - and maybe if we can bring up 

LCC.007.002.5614. Just while that's being downloaded, the recruitment 

committee - did you turn your mind to whether it was a committee within the code of 

conduct?  45 

 

COMMISSIONER: What do you mean by that? 
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MS McDONALD: There's a definition of "committee" within the code of conduct 

which was in existence at the time.  

 

COMMISSIONER: So a committee to which the code of conduct would then 5 

apply? Is that what you mean? 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, I didn't think that - well, firstly because we don't call it a 10 

committee, we call it a recruitment panel. I would have thought that any process that 

we undertake within council has to comply with the code of conduct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Including the provisions of the code of conduct dealing with 

conflicts of interest? 15 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I would think so, yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Just while we're still trying to get this document, the recruitment 

panel meetings, were they minuted or were records kept of them? 20 

 

MR KNAPPICK: There was notes taken by the people present, i.e. the chair, the 

gentleman representing Procure Group, and I took some as well. 

 

MS McDONALD: But not normal minutes? 25 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Not formal minute, no. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes, please. Now, you can see from the first page this was the 

recruitment appointment policy. And I think, if we move down a little bit, it was 30 

adopted 24 July 2012. And if we move through to page 5- 

 

COMMISSIONER: This was still current at February of this year? 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. Sorry, that's my understanding because the next one I have 35 

is adopted 6 March.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. That's right. I inherited a number of old policies. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes, we've got it up there. Good. Identifying A Conflict of 40 

Interest: 

 

"Any selection committee member or person involved in the recruitment and 

appointment process of a vacant position ... is responsible for disclosing any conflict 

of interest." 45 

 

Then the next paragraph is the nature of the conflict of interest: 
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"...may be with anyone involved in the recruitment and appointment process 

including but not limited to an applicant..."  

 

Et cetera. And then: 5 

 

"Any conflict of interest, including its resolution, will be recorded in the recruitment 

file." 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 10 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, I know you describe this as an old policy, but it would 

appear from its terms that it's placing the responsibility on the selection committee 

member to disclose any conflict of interest? 

 15 

MR KNAPPICK: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then it appears to be: 

 

"Any conflict of interest, including its resolution, will be recorded in the recruitment 20 

file." 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Right. Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, it doesn't go into any detail about how it's to be resolved? 25 

 

MR KNAPPICK: No. 

 

MS McDONALD: Was the practice as to how it was to be resolved - is that - did 

you then have to turn back to the code of conduct for guidance as to that? 30 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. But that was in the hands of Procure Group - that they were 

overseeing as probity, to make sure everything was compliant. 

 

MS McDONALD: But compliant with what? 35 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Compliant with organisational policies. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Did you have any discussion with Procure Group about 

the conflict of interest? 40 

 

MR KNAPPICK: He specifically asked for them. I provided them to him for his 

review and for his report, because he produced a report, I think, at the end of the first 

round and the second round, and I would assume as part of his process in producing 

his report he would have examined those. 45 
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MS McDONALD: All right. Was the onus then placed on this person from Procure 

Group that if there was something that in his view had to be pursued, he would raise 

it? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That was my assumption. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: Was it ever raised the - as I said, the adoption of the procedure 

that occurs at council meetings of allowing all members of the recruitment panel to 

see other councillors' conflict of interest forms that were completed?  

 10 

MR KNAPPICK: No, they never - 

 

MS McDONALD: For example, if we can bring up the code of conduct that was in 

existence at the time - that's INQ.001.001.1134. Did you read the conflict of interest 

forms? 15 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, I'm pretty sure I saw most of them. 

 

MS McDONALD: Well, you say you saw most of them. Did you actually read the 

contents? 20 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I recall - did I look at them all in detail? I can't recall whether I 

looked at all 12 of them in detail, but I remember seeing some of them - like, the one 

you showed me for Councillor Karnib. 

 25 

MS McDONALD: Yes, please. So this was adopted on 30 August 2022. The current 

version - or the current code of conduct was adopted on 21 May 2025.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Right.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: So this is the one that was in operation at the time. If we can 

move through to _0017. You've got: 

 

"Part 5 Non-pecuniary Conflicts of Interest." 

 35 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And if I can just take you to certain paragraphs. 5.6: 

 

"Where you have a non-pecuniary conflict of interest in a matter for the purposes of 40 

clause 5.2..." 

 

And if we jump back to 5.2, that's: 

 

"A non-pecuniary conflict of interest exists where a reasonable and informed person 45 

would perceive that you could be influenced by a private interest when carrying out 

your official functions in relation to a matter." 
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MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then, if we jump back to 5.6, there it provides: 

 5 

"...you must disclose the relevant private interest you have in relation to the matter 

fully and in writing as soon as practicable after becoming aware of the non-pecuniary 

conflict of interest..." 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 10 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, not only does it say "in writing" but also to "disclose 

fully"? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 15 

 

MS McDONALD: You see that requirement? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I do. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: When you saw the conflict of interest forms, did you turn your 

mind to whether they were fully setting out the non-pecuniary conflict of interest? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: What - I saw them, and I don't know how they then knew those 

people.  25 

 

MR RAMRAHKA: Commissioner, can I raise an issue? It hasn't been established in 

the evidence that Mr Knappick had this role to oversight councillors' declarations of 

their conflicts of interest. But the assumption of the question is that Mr Knappick had 

some sort of oversight function as to the Commissioner's - the councillors' own 30 

recording of their conflicts of interest. I'm not sure that there's a proper foundation to 

this line of questioning.  

 

MS McDONALD: I asked Mr Knappick about his involvement. He was present at 

the meeting on 13 February. The talent acquisition lead - if that's the 35 

word - Mr Smith was not present. Mr Knappick has given evidence that he took 

possession of the conflict of interest forms and that, in his words, he saw them and 

looked at them to one - some degree. 

 

COMMISSIONER: I'm not sure there's a problem with the question, but there 40 

might be a step in between that might inform my understanding of the answer to the 

question.  

 

MR RAMRAHKA: Well- 

 45 

COMMISSIONER: Just hang on. Let me finish. Mr Knappick's also given evidence 

that Procure had a particular role. So it might assist me if you explore with him, once 
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he received them, what did he consider his function to be once he had them, and then 

we'll go from there. 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. 

 5 

COMMISSIONER: But as I say, the question as to whether he turned his mind to it 

one way or the other is - I don't think that's a problem. But what I do with it from 

there might need some more foundational work. 

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Knappick, you've given evidence that you were at the 10 

meeting on 13 February.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And you were the one who took possession of the conflict of 15 

interest forms? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And was because - well, one of the reasons was Mr Smith was 20 

not there? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: I think you've given evidence that one aspect of what you did 25 

with them was to make sure that they were put on the recruitment file? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: You've also given evidence that your understanding is Procure 30 

Group had some role in respect of the conflict of interest forms? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Definitely. 

 

MS McDONALD: Did you provide copies of the forms to Procure? 35 

 

MR KNAPPICK: We did. 

 

MS McDONALD: In addition, you've given evidence that you saw the forms, and 

from your evidence it would appear that you at least looked or read some of them? 40 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. Because I was collecting them from everyone to 

make sure we got one from everybody. My role in the process was very, dare I say, 

administrative. So I collected them to make sure we had one from everybody, to 

make sure that they then were given to my talent acquisition lead to put on file, and 45 

then to provide to Procure Group, as the probity advisers, to assess them. 
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MS McDONALD: Were Procure Group provided with the code of conduct? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Possibly. I can't recall. 

 

MS McDONALD: What information was provided to Procure Group as to how they 5 

should deal with the conflict of interest declarations? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: They have - their role, Procure Group, was to ensure that the 

whole process was aboveboard, that it met probity requirements. So therefore, you 

would expect that they would make sure that it was compliant with organisational 10 

policy. 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. That's your expectation. What I was asking you is what 

was actually provided to Procure Group.  

 15 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: What policies, what code of conduct? Do you have a recollection 

of what was provided to them? 

 20 

MR KNAPPICK: No, I don't exactly. But I do recollect the fellow who was 

representing them asking for a number of things. I can't remember exactly what was 

given to him, but he did ask for a number of things in order to fulfil his function. 

 

MS McDONALD: And your recollection is that there was some report by the 25 

procurement people at the end of this first recruitment process? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: There was. Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Do you recall what that report was entitled? 30 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I think it was just, "Report on the CEO recruitment process by 

Procure Group." 

 

COMMISSIONER: Did you say there were two of them? 35 

 

MR KNAPPICK: There was - they did a second report at the end of the second 

round, which we haven't been speaking about. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 40 

 

COMMISSIONER: The successful one that went to completion? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: The successful one that went to completion, but there was one 

done at the end of the first one. Because of the issues that arose, they produced a 45 

report which was quite critical of what happened. 
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MS McDONALD: And when you say "critical of what happened", are you talking 

about the allegation that there was some leaking of information? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: The breach of confidentiality. Yes. 

 5 

MS McDONALD: So the issue of what was done with the conflict of interest forms 

that were submitted, how they were dealt with, what information was provided to 

other members of the recruitment panel, was in the hands of the procurement - 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Of Procure Group. Yes. 10 

 

MS McDONALD: Procure Group. Thank you.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. Because their role was probity checking and compliance 

checking. 15 

 

COMMISSIONER: Is it - have probity advisers of this kind been engaged in other 

recruitment processes, in your experience, within the council? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I haven't been there for another CEO recruitment process before- 20 

 

COMMISSIONER: Directors? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: - but I imagine so. I never hired the probity officer, the 

procurement team did that. So they advised that we need to have a probity officer 25 

over the top of it, and hence they hired the probity provider, Procure Group, to 

oversee the process. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Is that something that you've experienced in other 

organisations that you've been involved in? The use of a probity adviser in a 30 

recruitment process.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: No. No. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Why, then, would you have expected it to have happened in the 35 

past? What about the process leads you to have that expectation? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I think the view that would be the case was that you would hire a 

probity officer if you had concerns that the panel selection process might be 

questioned. So it would be like a safety gap because you would have concerns that 40 

that might be what would happen. Many other recruitment processes I'm been 

involved in my career - there haven't been probity officers because nine times out of 

10 the recruitment process can be trusted to run effectively. 

  

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute. You've given evidence that the 45 

completion of the conflict of interest form - it's - I think as the form sets out, it's then 

completed and submitted to the talent acquisition lead? 
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MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then you gave evidence that it is then - they are, if there are 

a number of the forms, kept with the recruitment file? 5 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: With a recruitment, if the members of the particular panel have 

no conflict of interest, are they still required to complete the form and positively 10 

state, "I've turned my mind to it. I've got no conflict of interest"? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: So with any other recruitment process, if you're looking at a 15 

smaller recruitment panel - say, of three or four - the requirement is the members of 

the recruitment panel complete the form? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: It's given to the talent acquisition lead? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Who then keeps copies of them on what's known as the 25 

recruitment file? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: The use of the term "recruitment file", is that a file which is 30 

created for that - for the recruitment for that particular position? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Position. That's correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And so, for example, if it's a recruitment - let's say it was for a 35 

manager within corporate services. A file is created, which is a recruitment file for 

this particular position; that's correct? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, and all relevant documents go into that file. 

 40 

MS McDONALD: And relevant documents would be the various applications? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then within - if there then there is a shortlist and there are 45 

going to be interviews, things like the interview questions? 
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MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Interview scoring? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: Reference checks? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 10 

MS McDONALD: And that's all kept within that recruitment file? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Recruitment file. 

 

MS McDONALD: And again I'm being old-fashioned, but in the good old days it 15 

would be in a manila folder or something like that? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That is correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Is there now a digital equivalent? 20 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's right. That's right. But might I add that - I don't want to 

sound like I'm putting feathers in my cap, but the reality is that when I walked into 

the job two and a half years ago this was not well maintained. So it's been a process 

over the last two and a half years to get all this in order, and it's far better than it was 25 

two and a half years ago. 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. Can I just ask you, with a recruitment file - for example, 

documents such as who the applicants were, their application, referee checks, the 

interview questions, et cetera - are they accessible by any of the councillors? 30 

 

MR KNAPPICK: No. 

 

MS McDONALD: Are they accessible by any of the applicants? 

 35 

MR KNAPPICK: Unless - well, no. When I pause there - they'd have to be a 

member of HR. 

 

MS McDONALD: No, look, I'm sorry. I - 

 40 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: There was an assumption in my question. I'm not looking at 

members of HR who have some legitimate reason for accessing something like a 

recruitment file. But definitely councillors don't have access to it? 45 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Nor candidate.  
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MS McDONALD: Nor candidate.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Internal candidates couldn't access them, no. 

 5 

MS McDONALD: And so even if you were a successful candidate, you don't have 

access to what the recruitment panel thought of you or how you scored on an 

interview or anything like that? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Definitely not.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: Now - 

 

COMMISSIONER: When you said when you walked into the job these files 

weren't well maintained, what led you to that view? What was it about what had been 15 

done previously that - 

 

MR KNAPPICK: There wasn't a proper recruitment team in place in the 

organisation. There were some casuals and a part-time staff member there who didn't 

seem to record and keep things in an effective way. For example, organising a 20 

particular recruitment of a particular role was - what I found in the first six months of 

being there was that the couple of people doing recruitment were recording all of this 

in their notebook.  

 

Well, that was an enormous surprise to me because that sort of thing dates back to 25 

the eighties. So we started creating Excel spreadsheets and folders in what's called 

the content manager TRIM system, where all this stuff could be appropriately 

recorded and maintained and logically follow the recruitment of a particular role.  

 

COMMISSIONER: So there's some new processes in place? 30 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. They're very rigorous now and they have been for 

12 months. They will be better in another three months, when we'll have a 

recruitment system that we've purchased that will go live in February. 

 35 

COMMISSIONER: All right. I'll ask you more about that later rather than 

interrupting you now. Don't let me forget.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Certainly. 

 40 

COMMISSIONER: Does the council have a document retention and management 

policy, to your knowledge? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, they do. Records management. And we use what's called the 

content management or TRIM system, which is common across government 45 

organisations. And there's a - I think there's a records management policy that 

supports that. 
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MS McDONALD: When you said that when you started there people were 

recording things in a notebook, what was being recorded in a notebook? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Well, "X job has to be recruited to." "I need to advertise the role 5 

on X date." "I need to get the job out by this time." Then when candidates would ring 

me I'd be recording it on - in my notebook. 

 

MS McDONALD: But even with that informal recording of information in a 

notebook, there were still documents that had to be completed? 10 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. There were some documents that had been recorded in our 

Aurion payroll system. So the payroll system has been - had some tailoring within it, 

which a payroll system's not built to do, to create forms and allow people to view 

candidate applications. So there was a method introduced, before my time, whereby 15 

candidate applications went into the Aurion payroll system and where the panel 

would go in and be able to view those applications and score them accordingly as 

part of the shortlisting process. 

 

MS McDONALD: But through the Aurion system - 20 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: - that ability to access candidate applications, that would be 

restricted to members of the recruitment panel? 25 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, and the HR team. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes, sorry, I automatically include them. But other documents, 

such as your conflict of interest forms - if there were kind of scoring with interviews, 30 

there's usually a proforma for that. Those documents existed when you arrived? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: No. So for example, conflict of interest forms were introduced by 

myself with Mr Smith about - 

 35 

MS McDONALD: And when was that? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: 18 months ago. 

 

MS McDONALD: So what about June or July of last year? 40 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, I would have thought so. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Do you mean the requirement to complete them as part -  

 45 

MR KNAPPICK: Provide - 
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COMMISSIONER: - of the recruitment process? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: The requirement to complete them for every role, yes. Before that 

they didn't exist. These were the things that I uncovered as I got further into the job. 

 5 

MS McDONALD: So before you and Mr Smith introduced this about 18 months 

ago -  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 10 

MS McDONALD: - how were the conflict of interests for a recruitment panel 

recorded? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I have no idea. 

 15 

COMMISSIONER: Sorry, when you say it didn't exist, you couldn't - you didn't see 

evidence of conflicts of interest - 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Haven't seen (crosstalk). 

 20 

COMMISSIONER: - being recorded -  

 

MR KNAPPICK: No. 

 

COMMISSIONER: - for recruitments that - 25 

 

MR KNAPPICK: No. It was a gap. 

 

MS McDONALD: If I suggest to you that there was a conflict of interest declaration 

form in 2022 - 30 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: - do you agree with that? 

 35 

MR KNAPPICK: Well, if one exists, yes. I wasn't there in 2022, so I don't know - 

 

MS McDONALD: So one did exist.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 40 

 

MS McDONALD: I thought you - I asked you how conflicts of interest were 

recorded before you and Mr Smith introduced this and you said, "I had no idea of 

how they were recorded." 

 45 

MR KNAPPICK: That's right. 
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MS McDONALD: But there was a conflict of interest form.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: There was a form. Whether it was complied with and whether 

everybody did it for every role - I don't believe existed. 

 5 

MS McDONALD: So it's not that there wasn't a conflict of interest form that was 

supposed to be completed. Your point is it existed but you're unsure as to whether it 

was always filled in and complied with? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's exactly right. And hence I made it a compliance 10 

requirements that it was recorded and put into the folder every time a job was 

recruited. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Where's that compliance requirement recorded now, 

Mr Knappick? Is that in policy or is it a directive from you? 15 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, I'm pretty sure it's in the new policy. 

 

COMMISSIONER: I see. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: In the new recruitment - 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Policy. Which was rewritten over the course of the last 

12 months. And I think you might have mentioned it was in May this year it was 

ratified and launched. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: I'll bring that up. It's LCC.030.005.0002. Yes, please. And if we 

could go through to page 8 - or 0008, please. This is under section 4.4, Creation and 

Composition of a Selection Committee.  

 30 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And if we move down to 4.4.6 and 4.4.7, you've got: 

 

"Selection committee members ... must declare whether there is a reasonably 35 

perceived conflict of interest that could undermine the integrity..." 

 

And you've got - then it states: 

 

"The conflict of interest form must be completed and submitted to the TA before 40 

candidate shortlisting." 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then under 4.4.7: 45 
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"[The] shortlisting cannot begin until all selection committee members have 

submitted their ... form to TA..." 

 

And TA is talent acquisition? 

 5 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. 

 

MS McDONALD:  

 

"...and they have been approved to continue in the process. Any conflict of interest 10 

will be managed or negated in line with the code of conduct." 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: So when in answer to the Commissioner you poke about "it's 15 

now compulsory" - 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: - you're referring to those provisions - 20 

 

MR KNAPPICK: To those things. 

 

MS McDONALD: - of - sorry, the recruitment and appointment procedure 

introduced on 6 March this year? 25 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Can I just take you back to the first recruitment process. And 

you've given evidence that the issue of its integrity was raised when there was this 30 

alleged leaking of confidential information.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then I think you've given evidence that the Oceans Group 35 

then decided to return their brief of being the recruitment agency? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. They withdrew their services at that meeting and stated it to 

the panel. 

 40 

MS McDONALD: And when you say "at that meeting", was that the meeting on 

20 February? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. I haven't been so good with dates, but I would assume that's 

the meeting. It was where we were to interview the first two candidates and where 45 

the issue was tabled. 
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MS McDONALD: All right. Could we bring up again LCC.003.001.0043, please. 

Commissioner, I was going to - in addition to taking Mr Knappick to some more 

details that he records at the beginning of this email, also to his account of events 

that occurred after the Oceans Group people had left the meeting. That has been 

subject to a code of conduct. What I can do is take it as far as I can and then, in 5 

line with what we've been doing previously, move to a closed session. 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Let's do that. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, this is your email of your account that you gave on 10 

24 February? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And if I can just take you to the details. Can you see that - where 15 

you say "present", you've got "Procure Group rep" and you refer to a Rod Lambert? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. That was our representative. 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. And he's identified there as the probity adviser. Did 20 

Mr Lambert remain with the recruitment process through this panel and the next 

panel? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: He did, except for a time when he was on leave and somebody 

from Procure Group filled in for him for that period. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Now, you set out here, and if we go to the next 

paragraph - and this is the part of the meeting where it would appear Oceans Group 

and Procure Group explained what has happened, and also Oceans Group announced 

that they're not going to be part of the ongoing recruitment to this role and were 30 

withdrawing their services.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Did the councillors know this was happening or was this a 35 

surprise to everybody who was attending the meeting? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: It was a surprise to everybody in the meeting because they 

announced it in the meeting, "We are withdrawing our services." 

 40 

MS McDONALD: Did you know they were going to do that? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: No. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right.  45 

 

MR KNAPPICK: No. No. 
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MS McDONALD: Okay. And if we continue down, you've got two - I've taken you 

to this: 

 

"Two councillors spoke about their views and opinions as to what occurred." 5 

 

There's further discussions, who was the leak, et cetera, and then the meeting was for 

60 minutes. And then right down the bottom you've got: 

 

"At approximately 6.15 pm the conversation started to become accusatory and 10 

feisty." 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: I think we'll have to go into- 15 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. There's no problem with Mr O'Neill and those 

instructing him remaining for this bit, I take it? 

 

MS McDONALD: I've got no difficulty with that -  20 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right.  

 

MS McDONALD: - unless he wants to leave. 

 25 

COMMISSIONER: He can if he wishes at any time. Pursuant to section 12B of the 

Royal Commissions Act, I direct that the next passage of hearing take place in 

private and that transcript of this passage of the hearing not be published otherwise 

than in accordance with my usual direction. Direct that those who are in the room 

can remain in the room. Yes. We'll just wait until we're told that we're in private 30 

session.  

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED TO PRIVATE SESSION AT 2.59 PM 
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<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 3.08 PM 

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. Yes, Ms McDonald. 

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Knappick, I'm now turning to events after this meeting on 5 

20 February. And just, in a sense, cutting to the chase, after that meeting was a 

decision made that the recruitment process would have to start again? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 10 

MS McDONALD: This time, instead of having a recruitment panel of the 11 

councillors, it was decided that there would be a recruitment panel of a lesser 

number? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, of six. 15 

 

MS McDONALD: And the six were consisted of the mayor? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. Sorry, I do mean seven because it includes the independent.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 

 

MR KNAPPICK: But the six were the mayor - I'm trying to remember - I think it 

was Councillor Macnaught, Councillor Dr Betty Green. I think it was Councillor 

Monaghan. I can't recall the other one. And then - 25 

 

MS McDONALD: Harle? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Definitely Deputy Mayor Harle, and Councillor Ristevski. 

 30 

MS McDONALD: Right. And when you said "the independent person", that 

was Simon?  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Simon Meyer. 

 35 

MS McDONALD: So Simon continued? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: He continued. 

 

MS McDONALD: And the second recruitment panel, do you know - the shortlist 40 

that was approved back on about 13 February, did they continue with that shortlist? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: No, because it was a different recruitment agency now. And 

Oceans Group - what they made very clear was that they needed to contact all the 

candidates to tell them about the breach, that - they asked them all whether they 45 

wanted - they'd be interested in continuing. A number of them withdrew and said, 

"We don't want any part of it" - along those lines is what they were told. A couple 
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said they were happy to continue. Oceans Group said that they had withdrawn from 

the process, so they would have to re-apply through the new agency. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. You told me who the new agency was that - 

 5 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. Chandler McLeod. 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. And did they go back to advertising and potentially 

bringing in the 80 applicants that you - that the council originally had? 

 10 

MR KNAPPICK: No. They advertised again, completely fresh. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Candidates had been told by Oceans Group - well, the ones who 15 

had been rejected from the beginning had already been told they were unsuccessful. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Of those who were being interviewed - the six or eight that had 20 

been interviewed, they had all been contacted individually. We received a number of 

emails asking for their private information, i.e. their CV, to be removed from council 

records, which we did. And they were told if they wanted to apply again they'd have 

to apply through the new recruiting process with Chandler McLeod. 

 25 

MS McDONALD: And I don't want to get into detail about it, but the new 

recruitment panel then followed, in a sense, the same procedure - that there was a 

vetting of the applicants, they were presented with a shortlist? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. Same process. 30 

 

MS McDONALD: Then there was agreement of either, "We'll go with this 

shortlist," or, "I want to add somebody else in"? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 35 

 

MS McDONALD: Again, at that point, there were conflict of interest forms 

completed? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 40 

 

MS McDONALD: And then it led to either interviews or requirements of 

presentation by people? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. They were given a question to do a presentation by, and then 45 

they were interviewed by that panel. 
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COMMISSIONER: How many were interviewed, do you remember? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I think it was six - is my recollection. 

 

COMMISSIONER: And the probity adviser was still a part of the process? 5 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. Mr Rob Lambert was still a probity adviser to the process. 

 

COMMISSIONER: And although Oceans Group had withdrawn the independent 

member of the panel and - the chair continued? 10 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's right. Because Oceans Group had this other sub-company, 

of which he was a partner of, and so he continued in that capacity. Yes. 

 

COMMISSIONER: And he was quite separate from the people doing the - 15 

 

MR KNAPPICK: The recruiting. 

 

COMMISSIONER: - recruitment? 

 20 

MR KNAPPICK: Very much so. 

 

MS McDONALD: Ultimately, it led to the panel, in a sense, providing a report to 

the actual council? 

 25 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then there was a council meeting where you went into 

closed session and there was a determination of the successful candidate? 

 30 

MR KNAPPICK: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, in the lead-up from the establishment of the second 

recruitment panel, I take it there were a number of meetings of that recruitment 

panel? 35 

 

MR KNAPPICK: There was a shortlisting meeting - 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 40 

MR KNAPPICK: - of which they decided who to recruit, and then the days of the 

interview. That's all I recollect. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. So the interviews were conducted by the second 

recruitment panel? 45 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's correct. 
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MS McDONALD: Were you, in a sense, involved? In that you were still providing 

this administrative assistance? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, administrative assistance. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: Did you - for example, did you attend the shortlist meeting? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I certainly did for the first round. For the second round I may 

have.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Again, I can't recollect. 

 15 

MS McDONALD: Did you attend the meeting when the various interviews 

occurred? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: No. I brought candidates from downstairs up to the place where 

the interviews were and then took them into the interview room, introduced them to 20 

the panel members, and left. 

 

MS McDONALD: Through your involvement, though you've described it in a 

limited fashion, what were your observations of how this second recruitment panel 

were performing? 25 

 

MR KNAPPICK: I only saw them at the very beginning for, like, two minutes and 

at the very end of interviews for two minutes. It certainly was calm. There was no 

heated exchanges going on. People were completing their paperwork, from what I 

observed. 30 

 

MS McDONALD: So, the accusatory and feisty meeting that you observed on 

20 February, to your observations, didn't re-occur with the second panel? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: No. I would have hoped that the panel members had - not all of 35 

them needed to, let me make that clear, but they've learnt their lesson. 

 

MS McDONALD: And again with the second panel, there were conflict of interest 

forms completed? 

 40 

MR KNAPPICK: There was. 

 

MS McDONALD: And without going into all the detail again, is it your 

understanding that they were then provided to - was it Mr Smith still? 

 45 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes, to put on file. 
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MS McDONALD: And also to - 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Mr Lambert. 

 

MS McDONALD: Thank you. Mr Lambert. And your understanding is the 5 

determination of what to do with those conflict of interest disclosures was then in the 

hands of Mr Lambert? 

 

MR KNAPPICK: That's right. 

 10 

MS McDONALD: And is it your understanding that - again I'm using as a model - a 

council meeting where, if you've got a conflict of interest it is raised with your other 

councillors or in some way the content of the conflict of interest is conveyed to 

them - didn't occur with the second recruitment panel in that fashion? 

 15 

MR KNAPPICK: No, I don't think there was a verbal discussion around it. People 

completed the form like they had done before. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. 

 20 

COMMISSIONER: Do you see any benefit in that being part of the process of 

a - whether you call it a committee or a panel - 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. Well, look, as I've been asked here now, I can certainly see 

that there would be value in saying to the other panel members, "This is my 25 

declaration and this is what I've said and why I've said it." Nobody - have got 

nothing say, obviously, but if there's something then other people can quiz them 

about it or raise concerns about it.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Why is that a benefit, in your view? 30 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Because they might be able to delve further into that - seeing that 

as a serious conflict. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Or not, as the case may be? 35 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Or not. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. I want to take you back now, Mr Knappick, to the 

questioning from last Thursday.  40 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And that was dealing with the proposed restructure.  

 45 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. 
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MS McDONALD: We've clarified this morning what actual proposed structure was 

at the moment. I was asking you a series of questions about a particular 

foreshadowed role.  

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes.  5 

 

MR O'NEILL: Commissioner, if I may, my name is O'Neill. I seek your leave to 

appear on an application of 12B for Ms Betty Boustani. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Mr Knappick, would you mind just stepping outside the room? 10 

 

MR KNAPPICK: Yes. Certainly. 

 

COMMISSIONER: This doesn't reflect on you. This happens from time to time. 

Don't be troubled.  15 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW 

 

MS RICHARDSON: Do you want the door closed?  

 20 

COMMISSIONER: I just see he's walked down the corridor, so I think we're safe. 

Thank you, Ms Richardson. Yes. What's the basis of the application for leave?  

 

MR O'NEILL: The application will be in relation to private legal rights Ms 

Boustani has as an employee of the council. I'm speaking in code because I'm not 25 

sure whether we're in private session or not. That's the application I'll being making. 

The application itself (indistinct). 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Well, I'll do that first. Pursuant to section 12B of the 

Royal Commissions Act, I direct that the next passage of hearing take place in 30 

private session and that the transcript of this passage of the hearing not be published 

otherwise than in accordance with my usual direction. Mr O'Neill, is it okay for 

everyone who is currently in the room to remain?  

 

MR O'NEILL: Certainly is. Thank you. 35 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Just pause for a moment. There's just a slight delay 

whilst the system goes into private.  

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED TO PRIVATE SESSION AT 3.20 PM 40 




